

UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DE CAMPINAS

Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica

MARISA DOS REIS CANTARINO

Regularity of foliations and rigidity for Anosov endomorphisms

Regularidade de folheações e rigidez para endomorfismos de Anosov

Campinas 2022 Marisa dos Reis Cantarino

Regularity of foliations and rigidity for Anosov endomorphisms

Regularidade de folheações e rigidez para endomorfismos de Anosov

Tese apresentada ao Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica da Universidade Estadual de Campinas como parte dos requisitos exigidos para a obtenção do título de Doutora em Matemática.

Thesis presented to the Institute of Mathematics, Statistics and Scientific Computing of the University of Campinas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Mathematics.

Supervisor: José Régis Azevedo Varão Filho

Este trabalho corresponde à versão final da Tese defendida pela aluna Marisa dos Reis Cantarino e orientada pelo Prof. Dr. José Régis Azevedo Varão Filho.

> Campinas 2022

Ficha catalográfica Universidade Estadual de Campinas Biblioteca do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica Ana Regina Machado - CRB 8/5467

 Cantarino, Marisa dos Reis, 1994-Regularity of foliations and rigidity for Anosov endomorphisms / Marisa dos Reis Cantarino. – Campinas, SP : [s.n.], 2022.
Orientador: José Régis Azevedo Varão Filho. Tese (doutorado) – Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.
1. Sistemas dinâmicos diferenciais. 2. Difeomorfismos de Anosov. 3. Endomorfismos (Teoria dos grupos). 4. Folheações (Matemática). 5. Holonomia (Folheações). I. Varão Filho, José Régis Azevedo, 1983-. II. Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica. III. Título.

Informações para Biblioteca Digital

Título em outro idioma: Regularidade de folheações e rigidez para endomorfismos de Anosov Palavras-chave em inglês: Differentiable dynamical systems Anosov diffeomorphisms Endomorphisms (Group theory) Foliations (Mathematics) Holonomy (Foliations) Área de concentração: Matemática Titulação: Doutora em Matemática Banca examinadora: José Régis Azevedo Varão Filho [Orientador] Gabriel Ponce Eduardo Garibaldi Carlos Humberto Vasquez Ehrenfeld Cristina Lizana Araneda Data de defesa: 02-05-2022 Programa de Pós-Graduação: Matemática

Identificação e informações acadêmicas do(a) aluno(a) - ORCID do autor: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3664-4858 - Currículo Lattes do autor: http://lattes.cnpq.br/6293376888116554

Tese de Doutorado defendida em 02 de maio de 2022 e aprovada

pela banca examinadora composta pelos Profs. Drs.

Prof(a). Dr(a). JOSÉ RÉGIS AZEVEDO VARÃO FILHO

Prof(a). Dr(a). GABRIEL PONCE

Prof(a). Dr(a). EDUARDO GARIBALDI

Prof(a). Dr(a). CARLOS HUMBERTO VASQUEZ EHRENFELD

Prof(a). Dr(a). CRISTINA LIZANA ARANEDA

A Ata da Defesa, assinada pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora, consta no SIGA/Sistema de Fluxo de Dissertação/Tese e na Secretaria de Pós-Graduação do Instituto de Matemática, Estatística e Computação Científica.

À Maria Luiza e ao Joaquim

Acknowledgements

O presente trabalho foi realizado com apoio da Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Código de Financiamento 001.

Muitas pessoas fizeram parte desta jornada, direta ou indiretamente, e não posso deixar de agradecer nominalmente a algumas delas, especialmente pela presença em minha vida pessoal e profissional nos últimos quatro anos.

Agradeço primeiro aos meus pais, Maria Luiza e Joaquim, que nunca cobraram nada de mim que não minha saúde e felicidade, e desta forma gentil propiciaram que eu seguisse em frente de maneira tranquila, pelo caminho que eu mesma escolhi e com todo apoio, mesmo sem entender com o que eu trabalhei todos estes anos.

À minha família de sangue e de vida, Marli Cantarino, Ana Luiza Tenório, Rafael Bordoni, Silvio Junior, Bartira Maués, Miriam Cantarino, Marlete Cantarino, Josi Reis e Daniel Oliveira, agradeço pela rotina compartilhada, pelos momentos divididos, pelos perrengues passados juntos e pelos momentos leves e agradáveis. Obrigada pelas conversas, pelos desabafos e por ouvir me queixando tantas vezes das minhas dificuldades, por dividir também suas indignações e tristezas, e principalmente por terem me ajudado de inúmeras formas. Agradeço em particular ao meu companheiro, Luiz Fushimi, pela paciência, carinho, atenção, cuidado, conselhos, ajuda e conforto, por tudo que é para mim mesmo quando eu não estava em condições de ser o mesmo.

Agradeço à Luciana Bonatto e ao João Nariyoshi por continuarem me inspirando mesmo quando nossos caminhos acadêmicos se separaram, e por continuarem fazendo parte da minha vida mesmo de longe, como fonte de força.

Aos meus irmãos acadêmicos, Mayara Antunes, Fabian Alvarez, Pedro Mattos e Daniel Gomes, agradeço pela companhia, pelos bolos, pelos cafés, e principalmente pela possibilidade de discutir matemática com eles. Espero que sigamos juntos. Agradeço também a outros colegas com quem tive proximidade durante os últimos anos em termos de pesquisa, Marcielis Noriega, Matheus Cunha, Aline Machado, Catalina Freijo, Matheus Del Valle, Odylo Costa e Ulisses Lakatos. Apesar de ter tido um contato muito breve com alguns, espero que o futuro nos traga oportunidades de trabalhar juntos.

Alguns amigos não viveram ou trabalharam comigo, mas fizeram parte da minha vida nos últimos anos, e sabem que vou sempre levá-los no meu coração. Luisa, Henrique, Diego, Victor, Alexandre, Gilson, Kelly, Carol, Ioralice, Leticia, Leila, Ícaro, Walterly, Wallace, Roberta, José, Jean, Mariany, Kaellyna, Keiko, Patrícia e Rafaely, obrigada por fazerem os últimos anos mais divertidos. Agradeço ao meu orientador, professor Régis Varão, pela amizade, pelos conselhos, pela paciência e principalmente pelo encorajamento constante. Sua generosidade, muitas vezes disfarçadas num comentário bem humorado, foi o que me empurrou pra frente em diversas ocasiões, não apenas com a matemática, mas também na relação com meus colegas e demais pessoas da nossa área. Agradeço por me incentivar a trabalhar junto com outros alunos e nos manter em contato com outras pessoas

Agradeço ao Lorenzo Díaz pelo encorajamento que espontaneamente me ofereceu em frente aos "nãos" recebidos, e por ter mantido a porta aberta e me ajudado. Agradeço por, juntamente com outros pesquisadores da nossa área, ter contribuído para um ambiente receptor e colaborativo nos encontros remotos. Na ausência das conversas de corredor e de coffee break, num momento tão crucial para a minha carreira, os seminários e eventos online foram uma forma de sentir que eu fazia parte de algo.

Agradeço ao Bruno Santiago pela generosidade e entusiasmo, pelo encorajamento e pela gentileza de sempre ser positivo com relação ao trabalho dos outros. Desde que tive o prazer de fazer um curso de verão com o Bruno, não deixamos de manter contato, e espero ter a felicidade de continuar trabalhando com ele.

Além do Bruno que me chamou pra apresentar meu trabalho antes da defesa na UFF, agradeço também à Karina Marin, à Cristina Lizana e ao Sebastián A. Pérez por terem me convidado em outras ocasiões para apresentar os resultados deste trabalho. Estas oportunidades dos encontros remotos foram uma das pequenas alegrias dos últimos dois anos, em frente à falta dos encontros presenciais, e certamente me ajudaram a refletir sobre o meu trabalho, sobre como expô-lo e como melhorá-lo. A qualidade da versão final deste trabalho deve muito também aos membros da banca, agradeço pela leitura cuidadosa do trabalho, pelas perguntas e comentários interessantes durante a defesa.

Agradeço aos professores Lucas Freitas, Gabriela Planas e Ademir Pastor, que foram coordenadores do programa de pós em matemática durante minha estadia na Unicamp, tiraram várias dúvidas e ajudaram de inúmeras formas, assim como agradeço ao professor Marcelo Santos, coordenador da matemática na Comissão de Pós-Graduação, que também me auxiliou. Agradeço aos funcionários da secretaria de pós, que me ajudaram em várias ocasiões importantes, em particular à Magali que foi importantíssima nesta etapa final do doutorado. Não seria possível concluir este doutorado sem o trabalho de várias pessoas do IMECC, e sou grata a todas. Agradeço em particular aos professores que lecionaram as disciplinas de pós que eu cursei, e foram parte fundamental desta jornada: Alessio Fiscella, Saeed Tafazolian, Adriano J. Silva, Ricardo Miranda Martins, Douglas D. Novaes, Ariadne Carvalho, Francesco Mercuri e Pedro J. Catuogno.

Por fim, agradeço à Sônia Garcia, Manuel Garcia e Cristina Cerri, que já foram meus orientadores e fizeram parte da minha trajetória. Se eu estive sempre caminhando para frente como profissional, devo isto à sabedoria daqueles que me guiaram.

Resumo

Endomorfismos de Anosov são uma versão mais geral de mapas que exibem hiperbolicidade uniforme, contendo a já bem estudada classe dos difeomorfismos de Anosov e muitos outros exemplos. Esses endomorfismos são difeomorfismos locais apresentando taxas uniformes de contração e expansão ao longo de uma sequência de espaços tangente. Neste trabalho, exploramos alguns aspectos desses mapas, focando nossos esforços na compreensão de seu comportamento em superfícies, e na existência e regularidade de uma conjugação com um endomorfismo linear do toro.

Para melhor compreender a regularidade da conjugação, quando ela existe, estudamos as propriedades geométricas e mensuráveis das folheações estáveis e instáveis. A propriedade principal é a de *densidade uniformemente limitada (UBD)*, a versão uniformemente limitada de continuidade absoluta folha-a-folha para folheações, que provamos ser equivalente às holonomias terem jacobianos uniformemente limitados.

Finalmente, apresentamos no 2-toro uma caracterização da conjugação suave de endomorfismos de Anosov especiais com suas linearizações em termos da propriedade UBD, desde que o sistema *quase preserve volume* ao longo das folheações invariantes, condição que substitui a conservatividade para endomorfismos. Primeiro provamos que a condição de regularidade nas folheações e a condição de volume implicam que os expoentes de Lyapunov do endomorfismo são constantes e iguais aos da sua linearização. Então provamos que, se os expoentes de Lyapunov nos pontos periódicos correspondentes de dois endomorfismos de Anosov conjugados são iguais, então a conjugação é tão regular quanto os endomorfismos.

Palavras-chave: dinâmica suave. dinâmica hiperbólica. dinâmica não inversível. rigidez.

Abstract

Anosov endomorphisms are a more general version of maps displaying uniform hyperbolicity, containing the well studied class of Anosov diffeomorphisms and many other examples. These endomorphisms are local diffeomorphisms presenting uniform rates of contraction and expansion along a sequence of tangent spaces. In this work, we explore some aspects of these maps, focusing our efforts in comprehending their behavior on surfaces, and in the existence and regularity of a conjugacy with a linear toral endomorphism.

To better grasp the regularity of the conjugacy, when it does exist, we study geometric and measurable properties of the stable and unstable foliations. The main property is the *uniform bounded density (UBD) property*, the uniform bounded version of leafwise absolute continuity for foliations, which we prove to be equivalent to the holonomies having uniformly bounded Jacobians.

Finally, we give on the 2-torus a characterization of smooth conjugacy of special Anosov endomorphisms with their linearizations in terms of the UBD property, provided that the system *quasi preserves volume* along invariant foliations, a condition that replaces conservativeness for endomorphisms. We first prove that the regularity condition on the foliations and the volume condition imply that the Lyapunov exponents of the map are constant and equal to the ones of its linearization. Then we prove that, if the Lyapunov exponents on corresponding periodic points of two conjugate Anosov endomorphisms are equal, then the conjugacy is as regular as the maps.

Keywords: smooth dynamics. hyperbolic dynamics. non-invertible dynamics. rigidity.

Contents

	Introduction	1
1	PRELIMINARY CONCEPTS	0
1.1	General dynamical systems	0
1.1.1	Stability	24
1.1.2	Natural extension	25
1.2	Foliations	6
1.2.1	Quasi-isometry	27
1.2.2	Conditional measures	28
1.2.3	Absolute continuity	29
1.2.4	Uniform boundedness for absolute continuity	2
1.3	Uniform hyperbolicity	3
1.3.1	Shadowing and c-expansivity	0
1.3.2	Conjugacy with a linear model	-6
1.3.3	Lyapunov exponents	.9
2	HOLONOMIES FOR FOLIATIONS WITH EXTREME DISINTE-	
	GRATION BEHAVIOR 5	1
2.1	Proof of Theorem A	2
2.2	Proof of Theorem B	3
3	RIGIDITY FOR ANOSOV ENDOMORPHISMS ON SURFACES 5	8
3.1	Proof of Theorem D	8
3.2	Proof of Theorem E	5
		'1

Introduction

Along this introduction, we present some context for our field and the main concepts we work with, as a way to display how our results are related to the existing research in Dynamical Systems. Then we present the results obtained in this work and the structure of the text.

Uniform hyperbolicity

Nowadays, phenomena related to hyperbolicity are central in some fields of work in Dynamical Systems. To comprehend how the history of the field provided this development, it is key to highlight the role of stability when studying Dynamical Systems. The information on this section is mostly inspired by the Preface of [9].

The field of Dynamical Systems emerged at the end of the 19th century from the works of Henri Poincaré, who was the first to explore the behavior of orbits of a system modeling celestial mechanics from a qualitative point of view. Since this paradigm change, instead of studying systems of equations with analytic tools, many mathematicians started to study topological and measure-theoretic properties of most orbits to describe the general nature of the system.

Natural questions followed, mainly about stability, since it was already a important question for celestial mechanics. The concept of stability was first explored for states on the phase space, that is, given a system, it was desirable to know if a state of the system would resist small perturbations, for instance on the positions and velocities for mechanical systems.

In the 30s, Aleksandr Andronov and Lev Pontryagin [2] introduced another kind of stability, now regarding the stability of the system instead of the stability of its points or orbits. We say that a system is *structurally stable* if its topological behavior persists under small perturbations of the map on some set of functions. Both concepts of stability are vital to applications, since computations always incur errors, and if the phenomenon modeled with small errors is not similar to the original one, the models may not be good for predictions — for instance, as was noticed empirically by Edward Lorenz [35] when he discovered the famous attractor that carries his name.

At the middle of the 20th century, mathematicians were interested in characterize the systems with structural stability, with the belief that they were typical among all systems on a given manifold — mostly because Andronov and Pontryagin proved [2] that most flows on surfaces are structurally stable —, but Stephen Smale proved that it is not the case for higher dimensions or discrete-time dynamics [57].

Dmitri Anosov introduced — through the study of geodesic flows on negatively curved manifolds [3] — a class of examples that are structurally stable, the *uniformly hyperbolic diffeomorphisms* (also known as *Anosov diffeomorphisms*), that was formalized by Smale. Uniformly hyperbolic diffeomorphisms have a splitting of the tangent space of each point into a direction with uniform contraction and another with uniform expansion. Later, in 1970, Jacob Palis and Stephen Smale [47] conjectured that this splitting on the non-wandering set is fundamental, in fact, together with a transversality condition, it is equivalent to structural stability. This conjecture was proved by Ricardo Mañe [37].

Uniform hyperbolicity, however, is too restrictive. Indeed, in dimension 2 and 3 tori are the only manifolds which support Anosov diffeomorphisms [22], and any Anosov diffeomorphism on \mathbb{T}^n is topologically conjugate (has the same topological dynamics) to a linear toral automorphism [39]. Additionally, uniform hyperbolicity is not generic, there are open sets of non-hiperbolic maps for any manifold.

Thenceforth, the field expanded to include weaker forms of hyperbolicity, such as *partial hyperbolicity, dominated splitting* and *non-uniform hyperbolicity*. See [9] for a complete view on the theory. Although not structurally stable, the interest in these systems began as they surged as examples with robust properties (meaning that all nearby systems have this property), such as the example given by [36] of a diffeomorphism with robust transitivity that is not uniformly hyperbolic, but is partially hyperbolic.

Endomorphisms

In his thesis [54], Michael Shub widen the work of his advisor, Stephen Smale, to non-invertible differentiable maps on manifolds. He proved the classical result that, on the circle \mathbb{S}^1 , any C^1 endomorphism $f: \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$ is topologically conjugate to $z \mapsto z^d$, where $d = \deg f$. This result is in fact a particular case of a more general one, for he introduced the concept of *expanding endomorphism* as a C^1 map on a closed manifold such that its derivative acts as a uniform expansion on the tangent bundle. Shub proved that any two homotopic expanding maps on a compact manifold are topologically conjugate, thus providing examples of structurally stable endomorphisms.

Despite his pioneer work about expanding maps on manifolds, Shub generalized in his thesis [54, Theorem 6] some of his results for Anosov endomorphisms (having both directions of expansion and contraction), including the structural stability, but he considered every Anosov endomorphism to have a global unstable bundle, which was proved independently by Feliks Przytycki [49] and by Ricardo Mañé and Charles Pugh [38] to be false. This error in Michael Shub thesis was propagated in the work of John Franks [22], for instance [22, Corollary 1.3] affirms that unstable leaves on the universal cover are preserved under deck transformations, which is false. And in the remark after [22, Proposition 1.9] it is stated that the stable manifolds are dense, which is also false, and we detail it in Section 1.3. We do not know if [22, Proposition 1.9] is correct and the unstable foliations for Anosov endomorphisms are always dense.

The fact that Anosov endomorphisms that are not invertible or expanding maps are not structurally stable was proven by R. Mañé and C. Pugh [38] and F. Przytycki [49], were they also introduced several properties of these systems.

Rigidity

The term rigidity is often use in the theory of dynamical systems, and it is usually associated to the following idea

"Values of finitely many invariants determine the system either locally, i.e. in a certain neighborhood of a 'model', or globally within an a priori defined class of systems." [8]

In [8] the authors work with a complementary concept, the one of *flexibility*, meaning that on a fixed class of systems and under general restrictions, a set of invariants can take arbitrary values. These two paradigms allow to better understand the general behavior of a class of dynamical systems.

In our case, as stated in Theorem E, this is the precise meaning of rigidity: we have that the invariants are the stable and unstable Lyapunov exponents, and they determine that the system is a smooth coordinate change of a linear one, provided it only has one unstable direction for each point. This is the particular case for which we know examples of, but the proof works for a possible more general setting, as we explain better at the end of this introduction.

The aforementioned result of [54] is a rigidity result, since the degree of a C^1 endomorphism of the circle determines its topological conjugacy class. These kind of results were largely studied for one dimensional endomorphisms. For instance, together with Dennis Sullivan, Shub [56] also proved that if f and g are C^r , $r \ge 2$, expansions on the circle that are absolutely continuously conjugate, then this conjugacy have the same regularity C^r . Thus, the degree of the endomorphism actually determines its smooth conjugacy class.

For C^r diffeomorphisms on the circle, the invariant to look at is the rotation number α : if the rotation number of f is irrational, then the map is topologically conjugate to a rotation by α [17]; and with a condition bounding the derivatives Df^n , we have that this conjugacy is C^r [31]. These results are part of the *smooth classification problem*, that consists in giving conditions under which two smooth dynamical systems that are topologically equivalent are in fact smooth equivalent, and they are under the umbrella of the rigidity study. To more information on the one dimensional case, see [19, 15].

For higher dimensions, we consider the smooth classification problem for uniformly hyperbolic systems. For Anosov diffeomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^2 and Anosov flows on \mathbb{T}^3 , this problem was completed solved by Rafael de la Llave, José Manuel Marco and Roberto Moriyón in a serie of works [40, 16, 41, 18], where they prove that two Anosov diffeomorphisms are smooth conjugate if and only if the Lyapunov exponents for corresponding periodic points coincide. In \mathbb{T}^3 , this problem is also addressed by Andrey Gogolev and Misha Guysinsky [24, 23]. De la Llave shows in [17] that this characterization fails to hold on manifolds of dimension greater than 3.

Theorem E then regards this problem for endomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^2 , and it is more general than a previous result by Fernando Micena [42]. Micena treats as well conditions for smooth conjugacy for Anosov endomorphism on higher dimensional tori, by requiring more hypothesis for it to hold.

When studying dynamical systems, we often are interested simultaneously in different aspects of the systems, whether geometric, measurable or topological. More generally, rigidity can reefer to results in which a condition under one of this aspects implies a very specific behavior of the system under the same aspect or other. In this sense, we also prove for Anosov endomorphisms in \mathbb{T}^2 that a kind of measurable regularity of the stable and unstable foliations implies that the Lyapunov exponents are constant.

Regularity of foliations

As we mentioned above, one of the conditions that we require to obtain smooth conjugacy is a kind of measurable regularity of the stable and unstable foliations. More conventionally, this regularity is *absolute continuity*, and we have two approaches to it, one of then using *conditional measures*, and the other using *holonomies*.

For the precise definitions of the concepts here mentioned, see Section 1.2, here we recall the concepts briefly. Fubini's Theorem essentially says that, to integrate in \mathbb{R}^n over a product of balls $I^k \times I^{n-k}$ with respect to the product measure $m_k \times m_{n-k}$, we can integrate first with respect to m_k on each set $I^k \times \{y\}$ for $y \in I^{n-k}$, and then integrate the result with respect to m_{n-k} . We want to generalize it by replacing $\{I^k \times \{y\}\}_y$ with a partition \mathcal{P} of the space, considering any probability measure μ , and then getting a similar decomposition of the integrals. This decomposition is called *disintegration* of μ with respect to \mathcal{P} , and each measure μ_P , for $P \in \mathcal{P}$, is called a *conditional measure*. We always have local conditional measures for continuous foliations, and if they are equivalent to the induced volume, we say that the foliation is *leafwise absolutely continuous*. The other extreme case is when they are atomic measures, in which case we say that the foliations is *atomic*. Even foliations arising from dynamical systems can present this behavior, see [48], for instance. For uniformly hyperbolic systems, however, the foliations are always leafwise absolutely continuous.

A holonomy for a foliation is a map between two transverse discs that takes one point in the first one and, by intersecting the leaf of this point with the second disc, obtain its image. Roughly speaking, a point navigates from one disk to the other along the leaves of the foliation. We say that a foliation is *transverse absolutely continuous* if its holonomies preserve null measure sets on the discs.

These two definitions of absolute continuity are related: the former is weaker than the latter, as we state precisely in Theorem 3. And the former implies the latter for "good transversals", as proved in the unpublished notes [50].

This regularity is not enough to guarantee smooth conjugacy. Even requiring that the foliation is $C^{1+\alpha}$ is not enough, since in \mathbb{T}^2 the foliations are $C^{1+\alpha}$, but there are conjugate systems that are not smoothly conjugate. To overcome this we require that, besides from being leafwise absolutely continuous, the conditional measures are uniformly equivalent to the volume on the leaves, which we call *UBD property*, as defined by Fernando Micena and Ali Tahzibi [43].

Theorem D is inspired by the following result.

Theorem 1. [60] Let $f : \mathbb{T}^3 \to \mathbb{T}^3$ be a C^{∞} conservative partially hyperbolic diffeomorphism with hyperbolic linearization A. The center foliation has the UBD property if and only if f is C^{∞} semiconjugate to A.

Regularity conditions for the holonomies are frequently used in studying ergodic theory for systems with some kind of hyperbolicity. For instance, codimension one foliations for Anosov maps are C^1 , and this plays a role in our rigidity results. Another example is given in [1, p. 105], where the condition (Y5) — introduced among other conditions to guarantee the existence of *Young structures* for nonuniformly hyperbolic dynamics is that the holonomies have Jacobians with integrals uniformly bounded. The uniform bound for the Jacobian is specifically used in [13], together with other conditions, to obtain *Markov partitions* for uniformly hyperbolic invertible dynamical systems with singularities.

This motivates our study of the relation between holonomies with bounded Jacobians and the UBD property, as done in Theorems A and B.

Results and structure of the thesis

During Chapter 1, we present some necessary concepts to this work, such as the definitions and properties of foliations and of uniform hyperbolicity for local diffeomorphisms.

Chapter 2 is dedicated to explore the relation between uniform bounded absolute continuity with respect to the holonomies (transverse) and with respect to the disintegration (leafwise). The results that we prove about this relation are Theorems A and B. In Theorem A, similarly to the proof that transverse absolute continuity implies leafwise absolute continuity, we prove an uniformly bounded version.

Theorem A. If \mathcal{F} is a transversely absolutely continuous foliation with uniformly bounded Jacobians, then \mathcal{F} has conditional measures along its leaves equivalent to the Lebesgue measure and with uniformly bounded densities.

The proof of Theorem A is a direct consequence of the definitions. Its reciprocal, however, is more complex, and holds for "well behaved" traversals.

Theorem B. If a foliation \mathcal{F} has the UBD property, then for every transverse local foliation \mathcal{T} which is transversely absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobians, the holonomy map $h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}_1 \to \mathcal{T}_2$ between almost every pair of \mathcal{T} -leaves is absolutely continuous with bounded Jacobian. The boundedness constant does not depend on T_1 and T_2 .

To prove Theorem B, we construct a family of transversely absolutely continuous functions $\{h_g\}_{g\in\mathbb{R}^k}$ with uniformly bounded Jacobian (where k is the dimension of \mathcal{F}) on a foliated box, in such way that every local leaf \mathcal{T}_1 of \mathcal{T} is taken to any other local leaf \mathcal{T}_2 by a unique element of $\{h_g\}_{g\in\mathbb{R}^k}$, that act as an holonomy through \mathcal{F} -leaves. Moreover, restricted to \mathcal{F} -leaves, these functions are "translations by g" with uniformly bounded Jacobian. This implies that, for almost every pair of \mathcal{T} -leaves, h_g is an \mathcal{F} -holonomy and it is absolutely continuous with bounded Jacobian.

The main issue when we adapt the proof of [50, Lemma 2.6] to the uniformly bounded context is in Lemma 1, where we need, in order to complete the argument by absurd, to construct a small measurable "rectangle" where some inequalities hold. Other difficulties arise when defining the domain of each of the functions h_g , as we do it in such a way that they do not distort to much the lengths on \mathcal{F} -leaves.

The previous theorems further motivate the definition of foliations having the UBD property, in addition to the comments already made in this introduction. This property is one of the hypothesis on Theorem C, our rigidity theorem inspired by Theorem 1.

Working with preservation of volume for maps that are not invertible is more subtle, since a conservative endomorphism does not have constant Jacobian. To overcome the lack of conservativeness and its consequences, we introduce a technical hypothesis, that may be improved. For an *f*-invariant foliation, we say that *f* quasi preserves densities along the foliation — and we call it in this text Hypothesis (C) — if:

$$(C): C^{-1} \leqslant \frac{d\hat{\lambda}^k_{f^k(x)}}{df^k_* \hat{\lambda}^0_x} \leqslant C,$$

for some uniform C > 1, where we fix a local leaf \mathcal{W} , and $\hat{\lambda}_x^k$ is the normalized volume on $f^k(\mathcal{W})$. Essentially, this hypothesis says that, by iterating with f, the densities of the induced volume are not distorted too much. That means, in the hyperbolic case, that the expansion/contraction seen on the leaf is "well distributed" along the leaf.

Theorem C. [12] Let $f : \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ be a C^{∞} special Anosov endomorphism with quasi preservation of densities along its invariant foliations, and let A be its linearization. The stable and unstable foliations of f are absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded densities if and only if f is C^{∞} conjugate to A.

Theorem C is a consequence of Theorems D and E. The first one gives us that the regularity of foliations implies equality of the Lyapunov exponents.

Theorem D. [12] Let $f : \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ be a C^{∞} Anosov endomorphism and A its linearization. If the stable and unstable foliations of f satisfy the Hypothesis (C) and are leafwise absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded densities, then $\lambda_f^{\sigma} \equiv \lambda_A^{\sigma}$ for $\sigma \in \{u, s\}$.

In the above result, f need not to be special. Besides f does not have a global unstable foliation in general, since each point can have more than one unstable direction, so by "the unstable foliations of f", we are actually referring to a foliation on the universal cover of \mathbb{T}^2 .

The following theorem is inspired by previous rigidity results for Anosov diffeomorphism on \mathbb{T}^2 and \mathbb{T}^3 [40, 16, 41, 18, 17, 24], and guarantees that, for two surface Anosov endomorphisms that are conjugate, if the Lyapunov exponents on corresponding periodic points coincide, then the conjugacy is as regular as the endomorphisms.

Theorem E. [12] Let $f, g: \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ be C^k , $k \ge 2$, Anosov endomorphisms topologically conjugated by $h: \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ homotopic to Id. If the corresponding periodic points of f and g have the same Lyapunov exponents, the conjugacy h is C^k . In particular, if f and g are C^{∞} , h is also C^{∞} .

In the case that f is special and $g = f_* = A$ is its linearization, Theorem E was firstly proven by F. Micena [42, Theorem 1.10], and in the case that f and g are

not special, he proves a similar result with different hypotheses [42, Theorem 1.7]. He also explores conditions for regularity on higher dimensions with additional hypotheses. Theorem E has counterexamples in higher dimensions [17], in which more hypotheses are required for the invertible case [26, 25].

It remains to give examples of non-special Anosov endomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^2 that are topologically conjugate but not smoothly conjugate. If f and g are topologically conjugate, by lifting the conjugacy to the inverse limit space, f and g are inverse-limit conjugate. Then, a necessary condition is that f and g have the same linearization, since by Nobuo Aoki and Koichi Hiraide [4, Theorem 6.8.1] f and its linearization are inverse-limit conjugate. Additionally, the conjugacy must necessarily be a homeomorphism between $W_f^u(\tilde{x})$ and $W_g^u(\tilde{h}(\tilde{x}))$ for each of the unstable directions. Micena and Tahzibi [44] proved that, if f is not special, there is a residual subset $\mathcal{R} \in \mathbb{T}^2$ such that every $x \in \mathcal{R}$ has infinitely many unstable directions. This suggests the complexity of this problem.

Question 1. Under which conditions do we have a topological conjugacy between two non-special Anosov endomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^n with the same linearization?

Remarks on the results and previous attempts

The results of this work are fruit of a constant (if somewhat slow) process of better understating the nature of Anosov endomorphisms on tori, either topologically, geometrically or measure theoretically.

The first problem that took most of our time was to understand the topological (semi)conjugacy between an Anosov endomorphism and a nearby perturbation, in particular when this perturbation is its linearization. Our first impression was that an Anosov endomorphism with infinitely many unstable manifolds for a given point could be semi conjugate to a linear one, with the semiconjugacy "collapsing" all unstable manifolds of the same point into only one for the linear model, based on the possibility that the conjugacy present on the universal cover or the natural extension could be projected when its inverse could not. We prove in Proposition 11 that it cannot occur.

When attempting to understand the nature of the possible conjugacies between two nearby Anosov endomorphisms, we tried to construct it with the shadowing property, as presented in Section 1.3.1 and similar to the proof for diffeomorphisms, but it turned out that is gives origin precisely to the conjugacy of their natural extensions, as already stated by [49].

We then proceeded to consider only the case on which a conjugacy does in fact exist. The natural hypothesis is suppose that the Anosov endomorphism f is special (only has one unstable direction for each point). We attempted to encompass the case in which f and g are not special but are topologically conjugate with h homotopic to Additionally, our first proof of Theorem D contained an error, as we did not required any preservation of volume and attempt to prove that f somehow preserved normalized induced volume on the leaves, which is true only for large segments inside each leaf, due to the quasi-isometry and the conjugacy with a linear foliation. To overcome this, we added a hypothesis on the foliations that we call *quasi preservation of densities*. We hope to refine this hypothesis in the nearby future.

At the time that we did not know of this error, our natural continuation of this work was to either explore the construction of examples, or to motivate the UBD property present on our hypotheses. Our first efforts was on this second topic, which gave origin to the Chapter 2.

Therefore, there is still much to comprehend and explore on the topics of this work, including the study of rigidity for Anosov endomorphisms on higher dimensional manifolds. We remark that, along the proofs of Theorems D and E, we make explicit use of the fact that the stable and unstable foliations are both one dimensional, thus the generalization to higher dimensions would require several different arguments, as well as additional hypotheses for dimension greater than three.

1 Preliminary concepts

This chapter is dedicated to a brief presentation of some concepts relevant to our results. Our main goal is to provide references to facilitate the reading of this text, with the aim of making it as self-contained as possible. We omit most of the proofs of the results here stated and provide references where they may be found.

During the first section, we present the general theory of dynamical systems, focusing on concepts that will be particularly relevant along the text. The second section contains an introduction to foliations, as well as some of their geometric and measurable properties. The last section presents the theory of uniform hyperbolic dynamical systems, including non-invertible ones.

1.1 General dynamical systems

Here, we briefly review the fundamental concepts in the general theory of Dynamical Systems and Ergodic Theory, introducing concepts such as topological dynamical system, measurable dynamical system, invariant sets, ergodicity, entropy, and so on. We also state some properties. For a thorough introduction, see [34, 52, 61] (there is also [46], the original Brazilian Portuguese version of [61]).

A dynamical system is a space X with some structure (metric space, measure space or Riemannian manifold, for instance) and an action f of a semigroup G on this space that preserves the structure (f is continuous, measurable or differentiable, for instance). Most commonly, the semigroup G is actually a group: $G = \mathbb{Z}$ or $G = \mathbb{R}$.

If $f: X \to X$ is a continuous map, its compositions define an N-action, and in particular, if f is an invertible map, we can compose f^{-1} and we have a \mathbb{Z} -action. Reciprocally, a semigroup (group) action defines a (invertible) map $f(1, \cdot)$. So we say that an action is *invertible* if it is a group action.

We say that f is a discrete time dynamical system if $G = \mathbb{N}$ or $G = \mathbb{Z}$, and $f: G \times X \to X$ is denoted by $f^n: X \to X$ for each $n \in G$. In this case $f^0 = \text{id}$ and $f^n \circ f^m = f^{n+m}$ for all $m, n \in G$.

Similarly, we say that ϕ is a *continuous time dynamical system* if $G = \mathbb{R}_+$ or $G = \mathbb{R}$, and $\phi: G \times X \to X$ is denoted by $\phi_t: X \to X$ for each $t \in G$. In this case $\phi_0 = \mathrm{id}$ and $\phi_t \circ \phi_s = \phi_{t+s}$ for all $t, s \in G$.

In these two cases, the action of the semigroup is often intuitively related with the passage of time, since f^n or ϕ_t can represent the state of a physical system after n observations or after t units of time have passed. Thus, a dynamical system is a model of some phenomenon over time, given a general law of movement or behavior.

A topological dynamical system is a continuous action on a topological space (often a metric space). A measurable dynamical system is a measurable action on a measure space (often a probability space that also has a topological structure). Henceforth, we suppose that X is a metric space and we deal exclusively with the discrete time case, with f being a continuous action of Z in the invertible case and an action of N in the non-invertible setting. Most of the definitions and properties for discrete time dynamical systems are applicable to continuous ones.

The general approach of the theory of dynamical systems is to understand the qualitative behavior of a system, that is, we do not want to compute the precise valor of f^n on some point, but to describe its behavior as n goes to infinity. The following sets are some of the tools used to grasp this general behavior:

- Fixed points of f: Fix $(f) = \{p \in X : f(p) = p\};$
- Periodic points of f: Per $(f) = \{p \in M : \exists k \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } f^k(p) = p\}$, and the smallest such k is the period of p;
- ω -limit of $p \in X$: $\omega_f(p) = \{ y \in X : \exists n_k \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} \infty \text{ such that } f^{n_k}(p) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} y \};$
- α -limit of $p \in X$ (if f is invertible):

$$\alpha_f(p) = \{ y \in X : \exists \ n_k \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} -\infty \text{ such that } f^{n_k}(p) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} y \};$$

• Non-wandering set of $f: p \in X$ is non-wandering if, given a neighborhood U of p, there is $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f^n(U) \cap U \neq \emptyset$. Otherwise, the point is said to be a wandering point. We denote by $\Omega(f)$ the set of non-wandering points of f.

These sets, besides being relevant to the understanding of the system, also have the property of being somewhat preserved by the evolution of the system. To be precise, we introduce the concept of invariance.

Definition 1. We say that a set $A \subseteq X$ is *f*-invariant if $f^{-1}(A) = A$. Additionally, A is positively invariant if $f(A) \subset A$ and negatively invariant if $f^{-1}(A) \subset A$.

Evidently, every fixed point is periodic, and every periodic point is in its ω - and α -limits. Furthermore, $\omega_f(x)$ is closed and positively invariant and, if f is a homeomorphism, the limit sets $\omega_f(x)$ and $\alpha_f(x)$ are closed and invariant. Finally, $\omega_f(x) \subseteq \Omega(f)$ for all $x \in X$, $\Omega(f)$ is positively invariant, and if f is a homeomorphism then $\alpha_f(x) \subseteq \Omega(f)$ for all $x \in X$ and $\Omega(f)$ is invariant. For the proofs of these facts, we recommend [52, Chapter 2].

If two topological dynamical systems have "qualitatively" the same behavior, we want to say that they are somehow equivalent. To make this notion precise, we define topological conjugacy.

Definition 2. If X and Y are compact metric spaces, with $f : X \to X$ and $g : Y \to Y$ continuous maps, we say that f and g are topologically conjugate if there is a homeomorphism $h: X \to Y$ such that $h \circ f = g \circ h$.

If $h: X \to Y$ is surjective, we say that f and g are topologically semiconjugate, or that g is a topological factor of f.

Another sense of equivalence can be considered if we take into account measuretheoretic aspects of the dynamics.

Definition 3. If (X, \mathcal{A}, μ) and (Y, \mathcal{B}, ν) are measure spaces, with $f : X \to X$ and $g: Y \to Y$ measurable maps, we say that f and g are *ergodically equivalent* if there are $X' \subseteq X$ and $Y' \subseteq Y$, with $\mu(X \setminus X') = 0$ and $\nu(Y \setminus Y') = 0$, and a measurable bijection $h: X' \to Y'$ such that $h \circ f = g \circ h$.

If $h: X' \to Y'$ is surjective, we say that g is a *factor* of f.

These notions of equivalence are in fact equivalence relations, and maps in the same class are alike. For the topological conjugacy, two equivalent maps have corresponding fixed points, periodic orbits and dense orbits; the limit sets and non-wandering set are also preserved. As such, the topological behavior of the orbits is indistinguishable from one system to the other.

There are topological and measure theoretic notions of how much a function mix points on the space. We recall some of these definitions.

Definition 4. Given X a metric space, we say that a continuous map $f : X \to X$ is topologically transitive if, for all $U, V \subseteq X$ non-empty open sets, there is $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f^k(U) \cap V \neq \emptyset$.

Often the above definition is taken to be equivalent to the existence of a dense orbit. Even though it is not always the case [20], this equivalence holds if X is separable, second category and does not have isolated points.

Definition 5. Given X a metric space, we say that a closed invariant set $\Lambda \subseteq X$ for a continuous map $f: X \to X$ is minimal if every orbit $\mathcal{O}_f(x) := \{f^n(x) : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ of points $x \in \Lambda$ is dense in Λ . We say that f is a minimal dynamical system if X is a minimal set for f.

Minimal dynamical systems are transitive, but there are transitive systems that are not minimal, for instance, a transitive system with fixed points.

Definition 6. Given X a metric space, we say that a continuous map $f : X \to X$ is topologically mixing if, for all $U, V \subseteq X$ non-empty open sets, there is $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f^n(U) \cap V \neq \emptyset$ for all $k \ge n$.

Topological transitivity and mixture express that the system is somewhat "chaotic" — in the sense that any point can approximate any other point after some number of iterations — with the second property being stronger than the former. In the same fashion, we have concepts for measurable dynamical systems that express something similar, but from a measure-theoretic point of view. More precisely, we have the concepts of *ergodicity, weak mixture* and *mixture* defined as follows.

Definition 7. If (X, \mathcal{B}, μ) is a measure space and $f : X \to X$ a measurable map, we say that f preserves μ or that μ is f-invariant if

$$\mu(A) = \mu(f^{-1}(A)) \text{ for all } A \in \mathcal{B}.$$

In this case we say that (X, \mathcal{B}, μ, f) is a measurable dynamical system.

Definition 8. A measurable dynamical system (X, \mathcal{B}, μ, f) is:

- *ergodic* if every measurable invariant set A satisfies $\mu(A) = 0$ or $\mu(X \setminus A) = 0$;
- weak mixing if, for any $A, B \in \mathcal{B}$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |\mu(f^{-i}(A) \cap B) - \mu(A)\mu(B)| = 0.$$

• mixing if, for any $A, B \in \mathcal{B}$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(f^{-n}(A) \cap B) - \mu(A)\mu(B) = 0.$$

It is easy to see that for a system, being mixing implies being weak mixing, which itself in turn implies being ergodic [61].

Another important concept is the one of unique ergodicity, that may seem to be measure-theoretic, but it is actually topological. A dynamical system is *uniquely ergodic* if it admits only one invariant probability measure. In this case, this measure is necessarily ergodic [61]. An example of uniquely ergodic actions is given by transitive translations on compact and metrizable topological groups; the invariant measure in this case is the *Haar measure*.

Topological transitivity and minimality do not relate directly to the measuretheoretic concept of ergodicity, for there are measurable dynamical systems with topological structure that are minimal but not ergodic with respect to a "natural" measure (see [61, Theorem 6.2.2]) or ergodic for some measure μ but not transitive (a non-transitive continuous function on a compact metric space admits an ergodic measure), thus they can not be minimal.

However, for a measurable dynamical system (X, \mathcal{B}, μ, f) , we have that if f is mixing, then its restriction to the support of μ is topologically mixing. A similar result holds for weak mixing systems, implying that they are *topologically weak mixing*¹ restricted to the support of μ . Also, a uniquely ergodic system is minimal restricted to the support of its unique invariant measure [61].

1.1.1 Stability

Most commonly in dynamical systems, we deal with the stability of points for a fixed system. More precisely, given a topological dynamical system $f: X \to X$, we say that $x \in X$ is *stable* for f if, for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that $d(x, y) < \delta$ implies $d(f^n(x), f^n(y)) < \varepsilon$ for all $y \in X$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. That is, any point sufficiently close to x has its forward orbit as close as we want to the one of x. In contrast, a point x is said to be *unstable* if there are points as close as we want to x whose forward orbits do not follow the one of x.

We will deal in this work with other kind of stability, not for points under a fixed map, but for maps on a suitable space of functions.

For topological dynamical systems, we can perturb the map on a small neighborhood of an isolated periodic point to create many new periodic points, which obstructs topological conjugacy between the original map and its perturbation. To avoid this sensibility, we focus on differentiable dynamical systems and restrict the space in which the perturbations can take place. A differentiable dynamical systems is given by a Riemannian manifold M and a local diffeomorphism $f \in C^1(M, M)$. We imbue $C^1(M, M)$ with the C^1 -topology, that, roughly speaking, is given by the notion that two maps are close when the supremum of the distance between their images on the same point and the supremum of the distance between their derivatives on the same point are both small. For more details, we refer to [32].

This allows us to formulate a concept of stability for C^1 maps: if their perturbations have the same "topological behavior", then they are stable.

Definition 9. A diffeomorphism $f: M \to M$ is *structurally stable* if there is a neighborhood U of f, with respect to the C^1 topology, such that, for every $g \in U$, f and g are topologically conjugate.

¹ The system (X, \mathcal{B}, μ, f) is topologically weak mixing if its Koopman operator $U_f : L^1(\mu) \to L^1(\mu)$ has no non-constant continuous eigenfunctions. Remember that the Koopman operator is given by $\phi \mapsto \phi \circ f$.

One cannot expect that the conjugacy between f and g is differentiable in general. A differentiable conjugacy means that the systems are equal up to a C^1 coordinate change. In particular, this implies that some properties have to be preserved under C^1 conjugacy. For instance, by applying the chain rule to compute the differential of $f^k(x) = h^{-1} \circ g^k \circ h(x)$, we have that

$$Df_x^k = Dh_{q^k(h(x))}^{-1} \circ Dg_{h(x)}^k \circ Dh_x,$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Taking x to be a periodic point with period p, then $g^p(h(x)) = h(x)$, $Dh_{h(x)}^{-1} = (D_x^h)^{-1}$ and

$$Df_x^p = (D_x^h)^{-1} \circ Dg_{h(x)}^p \circ Dh_x$$

This means that a necessary condition to have C^1 conjugacy is that the derivatives of corresponding periodic points are conjugate matrices. We see in Section 1.3.3 that this is equivalent to the fact that corresponding periodic points have similar rates of exponential growth of their derivatives along some directions.

Thus, for differentiable dynamical systems, it makes sense to consider stability in terms of topological equivalence, since differentiable conjugacy is more subtle. See [34, Chapter 2] for a full discussion on this matter.

1.1.2 Natural extension

Dynamical systems are not always invertible, and most physical phenomena are not reversible, so it is relevant to study non-invertible systems. For certain dynamical aspects — such as unstable directions, as we see in Section 1.3 —, we need to analyze the past orbit of a point. Since every point has more than one preimage, there are several "choices of past", and we can make each one of these choices a point on a new space, defined as follows.

Definition 10. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and $f : X \to X$ continuous. The *inverse limit space* (or *natural extension*) associated to the triple X, d and f is

• $\tilde{X} = \{ \tilde{x} = (x_k) \in X^{\mathbb{Z}} : x_{k+1} = f(x_k), \forall k \in \mathbb{Z} \},\$

•
$$(\tilde{f}(\tilde{x}))_k = x_{k+1} \ \forall k \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } \forall \tilde{x} \in \tilde{X},$$

•
$$\tilde{d}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) = \sum_k \frac{d(x_k, y_k)}{2^{|k|}}$$

We have that (\tilde{X}, \tilde{d}) is a compact metric space and the shift map \tilde{f} is continuous and invertible. Considering $\pi : \tilde{M} \to M$ the projection on the 0th coordinate, $\pi(\tilde{x}) = x_0$, then π is a continuous surjection. Therefore, every non-invertible topological dynamical system is a topological factor of an invertible topological dynamical system. With a metric over \tilde{M} , we can define precisely the continuity of objects that depend on the orbit of a point, such as the invariant manifolds in Section 1.3.

By making use of the inverse limit space, it is possible to better comprehend non-invertible systems. For C^1 endomorphisms, it is the natural environment to look for structural stability [7, 6], and it provides means to explore the measure-theoretic properties of these systems [51].

1.2 Foliations

In this section we define some geometric and measurable properties of foliations, and establish the kind of foliation we work with: continuous foliations with C^1 leaves. Consider $B^k = B(0, 1)$ the open ball in \mathbb{R}^k centered at the origin and with radius one. Given a partition \mathcal{P} , we denote by $\mathcal{P}(x)$ the element $P \in \mathcal{P}$ containing x.

Definition 11. A foliation \mathcal{F} of dimension k is a partition of M into C^1 k-submanifolds with, for every $x \in M$, local charts $\phi : B^k \times B^{m-k} \to U \ni x$ such that $\phi(B^k \times \{z\}) = \mathcal{F}(\phi(0, z)) \cap U$. Additionally, h is C^1 along B^k and continuous along B^{n-k} .



Figure 1 – A coordinate chart (U, ϕ) for the foliation around the point x.

In other words, a continuous foliation with C^1 leaves (or simply *foliation*) is a partition into C^1 submanifolds "stacked" continuously. The study of this kind of foliation arises naturally in dynamical systems, since systems with uniform hyperbolicity — uniform contraction and expansion along some directions in TM — provide foliations with this regularity, as we see in Section 1.3.

A vector bundle is a way to associate, for each point of a given base space B, a vector space in such way that this family of vector spaces vary continuously with respect to the base space. Focusing on the case that B is a compact and connected topological space, we define a vector bundle as a triple (E, π, B) , where $\pi : E \to X$ is a continuous surjection and the fiber $E_x := \pi^{-1}(\{x\})$ is a k-dimensional vector space, with $k \in \mathbb{N}$ the rank of E. Additionally, there must hold the compatibility condition, meaning that over sufficiently small neighborhoods in B, the bundle $\pi^{-1}(U) \subseteq E$ is homeomorphic to $U \times \mathbb{R}^k$, and the homeomorphism $\phi : U \times \mathbb{R}^k \to \pi^{-1}(U)$ satisfies: $\pi \circ \phi(x, v) = x$ for all $x \in U$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^k$; and $\phi(x, \cdot)$ is a linear isomorphism between \mathbb{R}^k and E_x . We say that (U, π) is a local trivialization of E.

An example of vector bundle is given by *subbundles*, that is, W a family of linear subspaces $W_x \subseteq E_x$ that makes W a vector bundle over M with the projection $\pi|_W$. Another example of vector bundle of rank k is the tangent bundle TM over a differential k-manifold M. A subbundle of TM is called a *distribution*.

A distribution E is *integrable* if there is a foliation \mathcal{F} with $T_x \mathcal{F}(x) = E_x$, that is, the leaves of \mathcal{F} are tangent to E. Reciprocally, a k-dimensional foliation \mathcal{F} provides an integrable distribution by considering $E_x = T_x \mathcal{F}(x)$ for each $x \in M$.

1.2.1 Quasi-isometry

A property frequently required for foliations in \mathbb{R}^n when studying hyperbolic systems is the one of quasi-isometry. It means, roughly speaking, that at a large scale the foliation has lengths (along the leaf) between two points uniformly comparable with the Euclidean distance between them.

Definition 12. Given a foliation \mathcal{F} of \mathbb{R}^n , with $d_{\mathcal{F}}$ the distance along the leaves, we say that \mathcal{F} is *quasi-isometric* if there are constants a, b > 0 such that, for every $y \in \mathcal{F}(x)$,

$$d_{\mathcal{F}}(x,y) \leqslant a \|x-y\| + b$$

In particular, if the foliation \mathcal{F} is uniformly continuous, the above definition is equivalent to the existence of Q > 0 such that, for every $y \in \mathcal{F}(x)$,

$$d_{\mathcal{F}}(x,y) \leqslant Q \|x-y\|.$$

For invertible systems with uniform hyperbolicity, quasi-isometry is guaranteed by the existence of a conjugacy between the map and a linear one, as we see in Section 1.3.

For systems with partial hyperbolicity — systems whose tangent space splits into invariant directions E^u , E^s with contraction and expansion, and a direction E^c that is neither as expanded or contracted by the map —, quasi-isometry is the main ingredient to guarantee *dynamical coherence* [10], that is, the distributions $E^{uc} = E^u \oplus E^c$ and $E^{cs} = E^c \oplus E^s$ are integrable. The quasi-isometry, as a geometrical property of the foliations, also implies for partially hyperbolic systems with one-dimensional center bundle that the dynamics on the leaves can be topologically classified accordingly to the dynamics of a linear associated model [28]. Thus, quasi-isometry is a geometrical property of foliations that, when present for invariant foliations of a dynamical systems, provide geometric and topological consequences. We see in Theorems D and E that, together with measurable hypotheses, it also has consequences in the smooth classification of the hyperbolic dynamics on surfaces.

1.2.2 Conditional measures

Before we define measure theoretical ways to see how regular a foliation is, let us digress for a short while into necessary concepts of measure theory. For the basics of measure theory, see [53, Part Three], for instance.

Let (X, \mathcal{A}, μ) be a probability space, \mathcal{P} a partition of X into measurable sets, and $\pi : M \to \mathcal{P}$ the projection that assigns for each point $x \in M$ the element of \mathcal{P} containing x. We define a σ -algebra and a measure in \mathcal{P} as follows: $\mathcal{Q} \subseteq \mathcal{P}$ is measurable if $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{Q})$ is measurable in X, and $\hat{\mu}(\mathcal{Q}) = \pi_* \mu(\mathcal{Q}) = \mu(\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{Q}))$.

Thus, we have a way to measure collections of elements of a partition. If we define a measure along each atom of the partition, we can ask whether we can compose these two ways of measurement into the original measure of X. More specifically, we want to generalize Fubini's Theorem for the case in which we do not have a product space to begin with. This is achieved if there is a family of measures defined on each atom of the partition permitting this decomposition of the integral.

Definition 13. A family $\{\mu_P\}_{P \in \mathcal{P}}$ of probability measures on X is a system of conditional measures (or a disintegration of μ) with respect to a partition \mathcal{P} if, for $\phi : M \to \mathbb{R}$ continuous

1. $P \mapsto \int \phi d\mu_P$ is measurable; 2. $\mu_P(P) = 1$ for $\hat{\mu}$ -almost every $P \in \mathcal{P}$; 3. $\int \phi d\mu = \int_{\mathcal{P}} \int_{P} \phi d\mu_P d\hat{\mu}.$

Given a partition \mathcal{P} , if the σ -algebra \mathcal{A} is countably generated and there is a system of conditional measures for μ with respect to \mathcal{P} , then it is unique with respect to $\hat{\mu}$. More precisely, we have the following result, which is proved in [61, Proposition 5.1.7], for instance.

Proposition 1. If the σ -algebra \mathcal{A} has a countable generator and $\{\mu_P\}$ and $\{\nu_P\}$ are disintegrations with respect to \mathcal{P} , then $\mu_P = \nu_P$ for $\hat{\mu}$ -almost every $P \in \mathcal{P}$.

The Rokhlin disintegration theorem guarantees the existence of conditional measures for partitions that can be generated by a countable family of sets.

Definition 14. A partition \mathcal{P} is a measurable partition (or countably generated) with respect to μ if there is $M_0 \in M$ with $\mu(M_0) = 1$ and a family $\{A_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ of measurable sets such that, given $P \in \mathcal{P}$, there is $\{P_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $P_i \in \{A_i, A_i^{\complement}\}$ such that $P = \bigcap_{i \in \mathbb{N}} P_i$ restricted to M_0 .

Theorem 2 (Rokhlin disintegration). If X is a complete and separable metric space and \mathcal{P} is a measurable partition, then the probability μ has a disintegration on a family of conditional measures μ_P .

The Borel σ -algebra is always countably generated for a separable metric space X, and the disintegration given by Rokhlin disintegration theorem is unique for $\hat{\mu}$ -almost every P. In particular, if the partition \mathcal{P} is preserved by a measurable function $T: M \to M$ that also preserves μ , then T carries conditional measures into conditional measures, that is, $T_*\mu_P = \mu_{T(P)}$ for $\hat{\mu}$ -almost every P, since $\{T_*\mu_P\}$ is a disintegration of μ with respect to \mathcal{P} .

In our context, we want to disintegrate the measure using a foliation to give the partition. We have the disintegration locally for small sets filled with leaves of the foliation. More precisely, a *foliated box* for a foliation \mathcal{F} of dimension k on a complete Riemannian n-manifold M is given by a local leaf X and a local (n - k)-dimensional transversal Y to this leaf. The foliated box \mathcal{B} is homeomorphic to $X \times Y$ and the map $\phi : X \times Y \to \mathcal{B}$ takes sets on the form $X \times \{y\}$ to local leaves $\mathcal{F}_{loc}(y)$. We identify $X \times Y$ with \mathcal{B} and $X \times \{y\}$ with $\mathcal{F}_{loc}(y)$.

A foliated box has its local leaves as a measurable partition. Indeed, with the Riemannian structure inherited from M, Y is a separable metric space, having a countable base of open sets $\{Y_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$. The sets $A_i := \bigcup_{y\in Y_i} \mathcal{F}_{loc}(y)$ for $i\in\mathbb{N}$ form a countable generator for the partition, independent of the measure. Then, for foliated boxes, we can always consider a disintegration of any probability measure, by the Rokhlin disintegration theorem. The same does not necessarily hold for the whole partition, as it can not be countably generated.

1.2.3 Absolute continuity

We regard the regularity of a foliation not only with respect to its topological or differential properties, but with respect to metric properties of its leaves and the holonomy maps that move points through leaves of the foliation.

Definition 15. Given a foliation \mathcal{F} , we define the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}} : \Sigma_1 \to \Sigma_2$ between two local discs Σ_1 and Σ_2 transverse to \mathcal{F} by $q \mapsto \mathcal{F}(q) \cap \Sigma_2$, where $\mathcal{F}(q)$ is the leaf of \mathcal{F} containing q.

In this sense, we can use the holonomy to ascertain the regularity of a foliation. But first, let us recall the definition of an absolutely continuous measurable function.

Definition 16. Given (M, \mathcal{A}, μ) and (N, \mathcal{B}, ν) measure spaces and a measurable function $f : M \to N$. We say that f is *absolutely continuous* if, for each $A \in \mathcal{A}$, we have that $f(A) \in \mathcal{B}$ and

$$\mu(A) = 0 \implies \nu(f(A)) = 0.$$

Equivalently, f is absolutely continuous if there is a positive and measurable map $q: M \to \mathbb{R}$, called the *Jacobian* of f, such that, for each $A \in \mathcal{A}$

$$\nu(f(A)) = \int_A q(z)d\mu(z).$$

Definition 17. We say that a foliation \mathcal{F} is *transversely absolutely continuous* if, given two smooth transversals T_1 and T_2 , the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}}$ between them is absolutely continuous with respect to λ_{T_1} and λ_{T_2} , their respective Riemannian volumes.

Another perspective from which to consider this regularity is regarding conditional measures on the leaves as a partition.

Definition 18. We say that a foliation \mathcal{F} is *leafwise absolutely continuous* if, given a foliated box, the measures $m_{\mathcal{F}(x)}$, given on each leaf by the disintegration of the volume m, are equivalent to the induced Lebesgue measure $\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}$ on the same leaf.

This definition does not depend on the foliated box. Indeed, when foliated boxes overlap, the conditional measures on a given leaf are the same up to multiplication by a constant [5, Lemma 3.2]. Moreover, this definition is weaker than transversely absolute continuity.

Theorem 3 ([11]). Transverse absolute continuity implies leafwise absolute continuity.

In contrast to leafwise absolute continuity, we have other extreme behavior on foliations: if the conditional $\mu_{\mathcal{F}(x)}$ is a sum of Dirac measures for almost every leaf, we say that $\mathcal{F}(x)$ has *atomic disintegration* with respect to μ .

To understand how the leaves of a foliation with atomic disintegration behave under holonomies, we have the following.

Theorem 4 ([14]). Let \mathcal{F} be a foliation with mono-atomic disintegration. Then, for almost every pair of transversals, the holonomy between them takes a set of full Lebesgue measure to a set of zero Lebesgue measure.

By "almost every pair of transversals" we mean the following: given \mathcal{T} a smooth transverse foliation for \mathcal{F} , we consider $\mathcal{T}(x)$ and $\mathcal{T}(y)$ for $m \times m$ -a. e. point $(x, y) \in M \times M$.

Theorem 4 is a direct consequence of the result below, first presented in [14], that we present here for completeness. Along the proof, since we only work with volume along \mathcal{T} -leaves, we denote $\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}$ by λ_x .

Theorem 5 ([14]). Let \mathcal{F} be a foliation on a manifold M and \mathcal{T} a transverse C^1 foliation. Assume that \mathcal{F} has atomic disintegration with $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and a set $N \subseteq M$, m(N) = 1, such that the number of atoms in $N \cap \mathcal{F}(x)$ is smaller than k for each $x \in N$. Then, for $m \times m$ -almost every $(x, y) \in N \times N$, the set $A_x \subseteq \mathcal{T}(x)$ given by

$$A_x = \mathcal{T}(x) \cap \Lambda,$$

is such that $\lambda_x(A_x) = 1$ and $\lambda_y(A_{x,y}) = 0$, where Λ is the set of atoms for \mathcal{F} , $A_{x,y} = h_{\mathcal{F},y}(A_x)$ and $h_{\mathcal{F},y}$ is the holonomy between the leaves $\mathcal{T}(x)$ and $\mathcal{T}(y)$.

Proof. Considering

$$A_x = \mathcal{T}(x) \cap \Lambda,$$

we have that, for *m*-almost every point x, A_x has full λ_x -measure, since the set of atoms has full *m*-measure.

The proof of the theorem follows once we show that $\lambda_y(A_{x,y}) = 0$. By contradiction, assume that there is a set $W \subseteq N \times N$, with positive $m \times m$ measure, such that

$$\lambda_y(A_{x,y}) > 0$$
, for all $(x, y) \in W$.

By Fubini's theorem, there is a set $V \subset N$ such that m(V) > 0 and, for each $y \in V$, there is a set $H_y \subseteq N$ such that $m(H_y) > 0$ and, for each $x \in H_y$,

$$\lambda_y(A_{x,y}) > 0.$$

Without loss of generality, we may assume that, for $y \in V$, H_y is such that $\lambda_x(H_y \cap \mathcal{T}(x)) > 0$.

For each $y \in V$, the set H_y is uncountable, thus there exists a sequence $\{x_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}} \subset H_y$ such that

$$\lambda_y(A_{x_i,y}) > 1/n$$
, for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Note that for each $x_i \in H_y$, the set $A_{x_i} = \mathcal{T}(x_i) \cap \Lambda$ is formed by atoms from the leaves of \mathcal{F} .

Since $1/n < \lambda_y(A_{x_i,y}) \leq 1$, for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, among the n+1 sets $A_{x_1,y}, A_{x_2,y}, A_{x_3,y}, \dots, A_{x_{n+1},y}$

there exist two of them, that we denote by $A_{x_{n_1},y}$ and $A_{x_{n_2},y}$, such that their intersection $A_{x_{n_1},y}^1 := A_{x_{n_1},y} \cap A_{x_{n_2},y}$ satisfies $\lambda_y(A_{x_{n_1},y}^1) > 1/n^2$. The leaves $\mathcal{T}(x_{n_1})$ and $\mathcal{T}(x_{n_2})$ are distinct, then there exist leaves of \mathcal{F} with at least two atoms intersecting $A_{x_{n_1},y}^1$.

Analogously, among the n + 1 sets

$$A_{x_{n+2},y}, A_{x_{n+3},y}, A_{x_{n+4},y}, \dots, A_{x_{2n+2},y}$$

there exist two of them with intersection, which we denote by $A_{x_{n_2},y}^1$, satisfying $\lambda_y(A_{x_{n_2},y}^1) > 1/n^2$. Additionally, there are leaves of \mathcal{F} with at least two atoms intersecting $A_{x_{n_2},y}^1$. By keeping this process, we obtain a sequence of sets $(A_{x_{n_i},y}^1)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}, \lambda_y(A_{x_{n_i},y}^1) > 1/n^2$, such that, for each $i \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist leaves of \mathcal{F} with at least two atoms that intersect $A_{x_{n_i},y}^1$. Now, repeating this argument as before with the sequence $(A_{x_{n_i},y}^1)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$, we obtain a sequence $(A_{x_{n_i},y}^2)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}, \lambda_y(A_{x_{n_i},y}^2) > 1/n^4$, such that, for each $i \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist leaves of \mathcal{F} with at least 2^2 atoms intersecting $A_{x_{n_i},y}^2$. Therefore, repeating this process, we can always find leaves of \mathcal{F} with an arbitrary amount of atoms, which contradicts the hypothesis of the theorem.

Question 2. Is the converse statement of Theorem 4 valid? In other words, how do we characterize atomic disintegration in terms of holonomies?

1.2.4 Uniform boundedness for absolute continuity

We now introduce a uniformly bounded formulation of transverse absolute continuity and leafwise absolute continuity.

Definition 19. A leafwise absolutely continuous foliation \mathcal{F} is said to have the *uniformly* bounded density property (UBD property) if there is K > 1 such that, for every foliated box \mathcal{B} , the disintegration $\{m_{\mathcal{F}(x)}^{\mathcal{B}}\}$ of volume normalized to \mathcal{B} satisfies

$$K^{-1} \leqslant \frac{dm_{\mathcal{F}(x)}^{\mathcal{B}}}{d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}^{\mathcal{B}}} \leqslant K$$

where $\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}^{\mathcal{B}}$ is the normalized induced volume in the connected component of $\mathcal{F} \cap \mathcal{B}$ containing x.

The above definition is given by [43], where the authors use it to prove that the Lyapunov exponents are constant a. e. on a non-ergodic setting. Moreover, it is the natural hypothesis to characterize smooth conjugacy with a linear model for low dimensional Anosov maps [60, 12]. Indeed, in [60], it is shown that a smooth conservative partially hyperbolic diffeomorphism on \mathbb{T}^3 is smoothly conjugate to its linearization if, and only if, the center foliation has the UBD property. This can be seen as a sharp result, since it is given an example on [59] of a conservative partially hyperbolic diffeomorphism on \mathbb{T}^3 such that the center foliation is C^1 but the conjugacy map is not C^1 .

We want to introduce a similar boundedness for transverse absolute continuity. However, the uniform constant can not exist unless we limit the angles between the transversals and the foliation. Take for instance \mathcal{F} to be a one-dimensional foliation by horizontal lines in $[0,1]^2 \subseteq \mathcal{R}^2$. Let \mathcal{T}_1 be a vertical line and \mathcal{T}_2 a line with slope $\alpha \in (0,\pi)$, as in Figure 2. Given a subset $A \subseteq \mathcal{T}_1$, we have that $h_{\mathcal{F}}(A) \subseteq \mathcal{T}_2$ satisfies $\lambda_{\mathcal{T}_2}(h_{\mathcal{F}}(A)) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{sen}(\alpha)}\lambda_{\mathcal{T}_1}(A)$. As α goes to 0, $\frac{1}{\operatorname{sen}(\alpha)}$ goes to infinity, so there is no uniform bound for the Jacobian. But a foliation by lines is as regular as a foliation can be, and so we want to exclude this possibility.



Figure 2 – We need the angle condition to avoid the case in which a small set in \mathcal{T}_1 is taken to a very large set in \mathcal{T}_2 .

Definition 20. A foliation \mathcal{F} is transversely absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobians if, for every $\beta > 0$ and any pair of C^1 transverse discs T_1 and T_2 with $\angle(T_x\mathcal{F}(x), T_xT_i) > \beta$ for all $x \in T_i$, $i \in \{1, 2\}$, we have that the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}} : T_1 \to T_2$ is absolutely continuous with respect to λ_1 and λ_2 and its Jacobian $q_{\mathcal{F}}$ is uniformly bounded: there is $C_\beta > 1$ such that

$$\frac{1}{C_{\beta}} < q_{\mathcal{F}}(x) < C_{\beta} \text{ for } \lambda_1\text{-a. e. } x \in T_1.$$

The constant C_{β} is fixed for all leaves of a given transverse foliation \mathcal{T} if M is compact. Additionally, it is also fixed locally for foliated boxes in any manifold.

Remark 1. The angle condition on the transverse discs above is satisfied, for instance, for $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}^s$ the stable foliation for a uniformly hyperbolic diffeomorphism and $T_1 = \mathcal{F}^u(x)$ and $T_2 = \mathcal{F}^u(y), y \notin \mathcal{F}^u(x)$, two distinct unstable leaves. A more general example is given by leaves of invariant foliations of a diffeomorphism with dominated splitting (see [9]).

1.3 Uniform hyperbolicity

This section is intended to introduce the main concepts, results and tools of hyperbolic dynamics — the field of dynamics interested in the study of maps that have a

splitting of the tangent space of each point into a direction with uniform contraction and another with uniform expansion. We focus specifically in the case in which the hyperbolicity is uniform, that is, the rates of expansion and contraction are the same for each point. Such maps, if invertible, are called *Anosov diffeomorphisms*, as a tribute to Dmitri Anosov who introduced their study, as we mentioned at the introduction.

If the map is a local diffeomorphism but it is not invertible, several complications arise, but we can still define uniform hyperbolicity, and maps having this property for each point are called *Anosov endomorphisms*. The definition is analogous, as we state in the following paragraphs, but the splitting is not global, it is defined along a fixed orbit (equivalently, along points of the natural extension).

Most of the results here stated have the proofs omitted, but we reefer to their demonstration. For a more detailed approach to the invertible case, see [34, 52, 55, 9]. Additionally, if possible, we state the results on the more general setting of endomorphisms, highlighting the particularities of the invertible or expanding setting, cases that are included in the definition of uniform hyperbolic endomorphisms, see [49, 38, 51, 4].

Let M be a closed (finite dimensional, compact, connected and without boundary) C^{∞} Riemannian manifold. The classical concept of a uniformly hyperbolic diffeomorphism (or Anosov diffeomorphism) over M is that there is a splitting $TM = E^u \oplus E^s$ of the tangent bundle that is DF-invariant and such that DF acts as a uniform contraction over E^s and a uniform expansion over E^u . There is a more general notion of a diffeomorphism with a hyperbolic set: there are $\Lambda \subseteq U \subseteq M$, with Λ closed and f-invariant and U open, such that $f: U \to M$ is regular and $f|_{\Lambda}$ is uniformly hyperbolic.

Let us define a hyperbolic set for a local C^1 diffeomorphism $f: U \subseteq M \to M$.

Definition 21 ([49]). Let $f: U \subseteq M \to M$ be a local C^1 diffeomorphism. The closed invariant set Λ is an *hyperbolic set* for f if, for all $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$, there is, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, a splitting $T_{x_i}M = E^u(x_i) \oplus E^s(x_i)$ such that

- $Df(x_i)E^u(x_i) = E^u(x_{i+1});$
- $Df(x_i)E^s(x_i) = E^s(x_{i+1});$
- there are constants c > 0 and $\lambda > 1$ such that, for a Riemannian metric on M, $||Df^{n}(x_{i})v|| \ge c^{-1}\lambda^{n}||v||, \forall v \in E^{u}(x_{i}), \forall i \in \mathbb{Z},$ $||Df^{n}(x_{i})v|| \le c\lambda^{-n}||v||, \forall v \in E^{s}(x_{i}), \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}.$

 $E^{s/u}(x_i)$ is called the *stable/unstable direction* for x_i . When it is needed to make explicit the choice of past orbit, we denote by $E^u(\tilde{x})$ the unstable direction at the point $\pi(\tilde{x}) = x_0$ with respect to the orbit \tilde{x} .

In particular, if $U = \Lambda = M$, we say that f is an Anosov endomorphism, or a uniformly hyperbolic endomorphism. This definition includes Anosov diffeomorphisms (if fis invertible) and expanding maps (if $E^u(x) = T_x M$ for each x). Throughout this work, however, we consider the case in which E^s is not trivial, excluding the expanding case, unless it is mentioned otherwise.

A point can have more than one unstable direction under an Anosov endomorphism, even though the stable direction is always unique. Indeed, we find in [49] an example in which a point has uncountable many unstable directions. Before we state this example, let us introduce the stable and unstable manifolds. To guarantee their existence and their properties, we state the *Hadamard–Perron Theorem*, which implies the *Stable Manifold Theorem*.

Definition 22. Considering $\lambda < \mu$, we say that a sequence $L_m : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, of invertible linear maps admits a (λ, μ) -splitting if $\mathbb{R}^n = E_m^u \oplus E_m^s$ for every m, $L_m E_m^{s/u} = E_{m+1}^{s/u}$ and

$$\left\|L_m\right|_{E_m^s} \leqslant \lambda \text{ and } \left\|L_m^{-1}\right|_{E_m^u} \leqslant \mu^{-1}.$$

We say that $\{L_m\}_m$ admits a hyperbolic splitting if $\lambda < 1 < \mu$.

Theorem 6 (Hadamard–Perron). Consider $\lambda < \mu$ and $r \ge 1$, and for all $m \in Z$, let $f_m : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be a C^r diffeomorphism such that

$$f_m(x,y) = (A_m x + \alpha_m(x,y), B_m y + \beta_m(x,y)),$$

for all $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$, where $A_m : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$ and $B_m : \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \to \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ are linear maps with $|A_m^{-1}|| \leq \mu^{-1}$, $||B_m|| \leq \lambda$, $\alpha_m(0) = 0$, $\beta_m(0) = 0$. Then, for $0 < \gamma < \min\left(1, \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\lambda}} - 1\right)$, there is $\delta = \delta(\lambda, \mu, \gamma) > 0$ such that, if $||\alpha_m||_{C^1} < \delta$ and $||\beta_m||_{C^1} < \delta$ for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, then

1. there is a unique family $\{W_m^u\}_m$ of C^1 k-dimensional manifolds

$$W_m^u\{(x,\varphi_m^u(x):x\in\mathbb{R}^k\}= \text{graph }\varphi_m^u,$$

where $\varphi_m^u : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$ and $\|D\varphi_m^u\| \leq \gamma$;

2. there is a unique family $\{W_m^s\}_m$ of C^1 (n-k)-dimensional manifolds

$$W_m^s\{(x,\varphi_m^s(x):x\in\mathbb{R}^{n-k}\}= \text{graph }\varphi_m^s,$$

where $\varphi_m^u : \mathbb{R}^{n-k} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ and $\|D\varphi_m^s\| \leq \gamma$;

3. these families are invariant: $f_m(W_m^s) = W_{m+1}^s$, $f_m(W_m^u) = W_{m+1}^u$;

4.

$$\begin{split} \|f_m(z)\| &< \underbrace{(1+\gamma)(\lambda+\delta(1+\gamma))}_{\lambda'} \|z\| \text{ for all } z \in W_m^s \\ and \|f_{m-1}^{-1}(z)\| &< \underbrace{\left(\frac{\mu}{1+\gamma}-\delta\right)^{-1}}_{(\mu')^{-1}} \|z\| \text{ for all } z \in W_m^u; \end{split}$$

5. If $\nu \in (\lambda', \mu')$ and $||f_{m+l-1} \circ \cdots \circ f_m(z)|| \leq C\nu^l ||z||$ for a C > 0 and all $l \geq 0$, then $z \in W_m^s$, analogously, if $||f_{m-l}^{-1} \circ \cdots \circ f_{m-1}^{-1}(z)|| \leq C\nu^{-l} ||z||$ for a C > 0 and all $l \geq 0$, then $z \in W_m^u$.

Note that, for Anosov endomorphisms, there is not a global splitting of the tangent space; the splitting is along a given orbit $\tilde{x} = (x_i)$ on \tilde{M} . But $\{Df_{x_i}\}$ is a hyperbolic sequence, and one can apply the Hadamard–Perron theorem in the same way it is done for Anosov diffeomorphisms to prove that f has *local stable* and *local unstable manifolds*, denoted by $W_{f,R}^s(\tilde{x})$ and $W_{f,R}^s(\tilde{x})$, tangent to the stable and unstable directions.

Theorem 7 ([49]). Let Λ be a hyperbolic set with a (λ, λ^{-1}) splitting for a C^1 local diffeomorphism $f: U \to M$. Then, for each $\tilde{x} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ and each $i \in \mathbb{Z}$:

1. The sets

$$W_{f,R}^s(x_i) := \{ y \in M : \forall k \ge 0, \ d(f^k(y), f^k(x_i)) < R \} \text{ and}$$
$$W_{f,R}^u(x_i) = \{ y \in M : \exists \tilde{y} \in \tilde{M} \text{ such that } \pi(\tilde{y}) = y \text{ and } \forall k \ge 0, \ d(y_{-k}, x_{i-k}) < R \}$$

are C^1 manifolds, called respectively local stable manifold and local unstable manifold of f at the point x_i with respect to $\tilde{f}^i(\tilde{x})$. R is a small constant that is locally constant for f.

- 2. $T_{x_i}W_{f,R}^{s/u}(x_i) = E_f^{s/u}(x_i).$
- 3. If $y, z \in W^s_{f,R}(x_i)$, then

$$d(f^{k+1}(y), f^{k+1}(z)) \leq \frac{2+\lambda}{3} \cdot d(f^k(y), f^k(z))$$
 and

if $y, z \in W^{u}_{f,R}(x_i)$, then, for the corresponding $\tilde{y}, \tilde{z} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$,

$$d(y_{-k-1}, z_{-k-1}) \leq \frac{2+\lambda}{3} \cdot d(y_{-k}, z_{-k})$$

for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Additionally, for R > 0 sufficiently small, these manifolds are characterized by

$$W_{f,R}^{s}(\tilde{x}) = \{ y \in M : \forall k \ge 0, \, d(f^{k}(y), f^{k}(x_{0})) < R \}$$
and

$$W^u_{f,R}(\tilde{x}) = \{ y \in M : \exists \tilde{y} \in \tilde{M} \text{ such that } \pi(\tilde{y}) = y \text{ and } \forall k \ge 0, \ d(y_{-k}, x_{-k}) < R \}.$$

The global stable/unstable manifolds are

$$W_f^s(\tilde{x}) = \{ y \in M : d(f^k(y), f^k(x_0)) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} 0 \}$$

and

$$W_f^u(\tilde{x}) = \{ y \in M : \exists \tilde{y} \in \tilde{M} \text{ such that } \pi(\tilde{y}) = y \text{ and } d(y_{-k}, x_{-k}) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} 0 \}.$$

Moreover, these manifolds are as regular as f. The stable manifolds do not depend on the choice of past orbit for x_0 , but the unstable ones do.

In the case that the unstable directions do not depend on \tilde{x} , that is, $E^{u}(\tilde{x}) = E^{u}(\tilde{y})$ for any $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in \tilde{M}$ with $x_0 = y_0$, then we say that f is a special Anosov endomorphism. Hyperbolic toral endomorphisms are examples of special Anosov endomorphisms.

The fact that non-invertible Anosov endomorphisms, or expanding maps, are not structurally stable was proven by R. Mañé and C. Pugh [38] and independently by F. Przytycki [49] in the 1970's, when they introduced the concept of Anosov endomorphisms as we know today.

Since the stable and unstable manifolds are characterized topologically using the distance, they are preserved under conjugacies, that is, if $h \circ f = g \circ h$, then $h(W_f^{s/u}(x)) = W_g^{s/u}(h(x))$. Thus, the number of different unstable manifolds for x and h(x) is the same under f and g, respectively. The following example illustrates this lack of structural stability, with a map f nearby a linear one with infinitely many unstable directions at a given point.

Example 1 ([49]). Consider

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} n & 1 & 0\\ 1 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & n \end{pmatrix},$$

that defines in $\mathbb{T}^3 = \mathbb{R}^3/\mathbb{Z}^3$ a special Anosov endomorphism $f_A([x]) = [Ax]$. If n is sufficiently large, then for every neighborhood U of A in the C^1 topology and for each $x \in \mathbb{T}^3$, there exists $f \in U$ such that x has infinitely many unstable directions for f.

This is a consequence of [49, Theorem 2.15], in which the strategy is to give labels to the pre-images of x, and perturb the map f_A on small neighborhoods depending on this label.

If $\sigma = \deg f_A = |\det A|$, then each point has σ pre-images, and there is $\tau > 0$ with, for every $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{T}^3$, if $f_A(z_1) = f_A(z_2)$ and $z_1 \neq z_2$, then $d(z_1, z_2) > 4\tau$. Without loss of generality, assume that x is not periodic. We denote the points $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} f_A^{-n}(\{x\})$ by n-tuples $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n)$ of integers $0 \leq \sigma_i < \sigma$, as such:

- At least $\sigma 1$ points from $A^{-1}(\{x\})$ are outside the ball $B(x, 2\tau)$. We denote these points by $(0), (1), \ldots, (\sigma 2)$ and the remaining one is $(\sigma 1)$;
- If $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n)$ is a point in $A^{-n}(\{x\})$, the at least $\sigma 1$ points from $A^{-1}(\{(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n)\})$ are outside the ball $B(x, 2\tau)$. We denote these points by

$$(\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_n,0), (\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_n,1),\ldots, (\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_n,\sigma-2)$$

and the remaining one is $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n, \sigma - 1)$.

The orbits in $\pi^{-1}(x)$ are sequences $(\sigma_1, \sigma_2, ...)$. For each $y = (\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_n) \in \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} f_A^{-n}(\{x\})$ with $\sigma_n \neq \sigma - 1$, we define a neighborhood $U_{(\sigma_1,...,\sigma_n)}$ as a projection of a small box on $T_y \mathbb{T}^3$, in such way that the U_y are f_A -invariant and disjoint. We perturb f_A on these projected boxes to generate different unstable local leaves that, when iterated until they reach x, give origin to different unstable leaves for x. For the details of this perturbation, see [49].



Figure 3 – If the degree of f_A is 3, then the gray sets illustrate where the perturbations are made.

Mañé and Pugh also proved the following proposition, which is very useful to generalize properties of Anosov diffeomorphisms to endomorphisms.

Proposition 2 ([38]). Let \overline{M} be the universal cover of M and $F : \overline{M} \to \overline{M}$ a lift for f. Then f is an Anosov endomorphism if and only if $F : \overline{M} \to \overline{M}$ is an Anosov diffeomorphism. Additionally, the stable bundle of F projects onto that of f.

Usually, to study Anosov diffeomorphisms over a manifold M, we require M to be compact. In our case, even though the universal cover is not compact, since F is a lift for a map on a compact space, F carries some uniformity. This allows us to prove some results, that were originally stated for compact spaces, for the lifts proven in Proposition 2 to be Anosov diffeomorphisms.

Proposition 3 ([44]). If $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ is a $C^{1+\alpha}$ Anosov endomorphism, $\alpha > 0$, and $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a lift for f to the universal cover, then there are W_F^u and W_F^s transversely absolutely continuous foliations tangent to E_F^u and E_F^s .

The above proposition is presented in [44] as Lemma 4.1. The proof is the same one as in the compact case, since F projects on the torus, then its derivative is periodic with respect to compact fundamental domains. With the same argument, we can prove the following just as it is in [34, §19.1].

Proposition 4. Let $f: M \to M$ be an Anosov endomorphism and $F: \overline{M} \to \overline{M}$ a lift for f to the universal cover. If the unstable distribution of F has codimension one, then it is C^1 .

If dim M = 2, since F is invertible, then both the stable and unstable distribution are C^1 . In general, these distributions are only Hölder continuous. This also implies that the stable and unstable holonomies are C^1 .

Definition 23. Given a foliation \mathcal{F} , we define the holonomy $h_{\Sigma_1,\Sigma_2} : \Sigma_1 \to \Sigma_2$ between two local discs Σ_1 and Σ_2 transverse to \mathcal{F} by $q \mapsto \mathcal{F}(q) \cap \Sigma_2$, where $\mathcal{F}(q)$ is the leaf of \mathcal{F} containing q.



Figure 4 – The holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}}$ moves $x \in T_1$ to T_2 along the leaf $\mathcal{F}(x)$.

That is, a holonomy moves the point q through its leaf on \mathcal{F} . For Anosov endomorphisms, we have transverse foliations on the universal cover, so the *stable holonomy* can have local unstable leaves as the discs. When there is no risk of ambiguity, we denote it simply by h^s . The same goes for the unstable holonomy.

An important feature of Anosov endomorphisms on tori is transitivity. The following theorem is a consequence of results in [4] for *topological Anosov maps*, which

are continuous surjections with some kind of expansiveness and shadowing property, as we introduce in Section 1.3.1. Anosov endomorphisms are particular cases of topological Anosov maps that are differentiable.

Proposition 5 ([4]). Every Anosov endomorphism on \mathbb{T}^n is transitive.

Proof. By [4, Theorem 8.3.5], every topological Anosov map f on \mathbb{T}^n has $\Omega(f) = \mathbb{T}^n$, its nonwandering set is the whole manifold, which implies transitivity.

In Section 1.2.1 we introduced quasi-isometry as a geometric property of foliations on \mathbb{R}^n , consisting of a uniform equivalence between the measure along the leaves and the Euclidean measure. If the endomorphism is close to is linearization, we have that

Proposition 6 ([44]). Let $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ be an Anosov endomorphism C^1 -close to its linearization A. Then W_F^u and W_F^s are quasi-isometric.

The above proposition is proved in [44] as Lemma 4.4. In the case that f is a special Anosov endomorphism, however, the quasi-isometry is guaranteed by the conjugacy between f and A: the stable and unstable foliations lift to foliations of \mathbb{R}^n , that are invariant under deck transformations, and together with the fact that H is uniformly bounded and with the global product structure, this allows us to bound the lengths properly. In particular, for dimension 2, $W_F^{u/s}$ is homeomorphic to a foliation by lines, therefore it is Reebless and, by the classification of foliations on compact surfaces given in [30, §4.3], $W_F^{u/s}$ is the suspension of a circle homeomorphism, thus being quasi-isometric (this is similar to the argument given in [29] to prove dynamical coherence for special partially hyperbolic endomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^2).

This argument does not apply for W_F^u if f is not special, since this foliation does not project to a foliation of \mathbb{T}^n , but the quasi-isometry of W_F^u follows from [27, Proposition 2.10] for partially hyperbolic endomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^2 .

Concluding, for Anosov endomorphisms, the stable foliation is always quasiisometric. We have quasi-isometry of the unstable manifolds for special Anosov endomorphisms, it only is guaranteed locally around the linear maps for the general non-special case, and on \mathbb{T}^2 it always holds. We still do not know if there are examples of Anosov endomorphisms on \mathbb{T}^n with unstable foliations that fail to be quasi-isometric, or if it can be proved that Anosov endomorphisms always have quasi-isometric unstable manifolds.

1.3.1 Shadowing and c-expansivity

In this section, we prove that Anosov endomorphisms have two properties that, together, imply the structurally stability at the natural extension level. These are the *shadowing property* and *c-expansivity*. In the invertible case, this proves the structural stability.

A δ -pseudo-orbit is a sequence $\{x_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}\cap[a,b]}$ of points of $X, a < b \in \mathbb{Z}$, such that $d(f(x_i), x_{i+1}) < \delta$ for $i \in \mathbb{Z} \cap [a, b)$. If $a = -\infty$ and $b = \infty$, we say that the δ -pseudo-orbit is bi-infinite.

Essentially, pseudo orbits are orbits allowing a small error at each step, but on a non-cumulative fashion: after an iteration, we are allowed to have instead a point near the "right one", but then we iterate the "right one" and get a new neighborhood of allowed points.

We say that a δ -pseudo orbit is ε -shadowed by $x \in X$ if $d(f^i(x), x_i) \leq \varepsilon$ for $i \in \mathbb{Z} \cap [a, b]$ (with $a \geq 0$ if f is non-invertible). The map $f : X \to X$ has the shadowing property if, for $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that every δ -pseudo orbit is ε -shadowed by a $x \in X$.

We can shadow a bi-infinite δ -pseudo-orbit for an endomorphism using points of the natural extension.

The shadowing property gives us that every "approximated" orbit can be replaced by a real orbit nearby. To prove that it is the case for Anosov endomorphisms, let us first establish the local product structure.

The following is a consequence of the stable manifold theorem [51, Theorem IV.2.3], [49, Theorems 2.3 and 2.6].

Theorem 8 (Local product structure for endomorphisms [51, 49]). If Λ a hyperbolic set for the endomorphism $f: U \subseteq M \to M$, then, given $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, there is $0 < \delta < \varepsilon$ such that

- 1. For $\tilde{y} \in \Lambda^f$ and $x_0 \in \Lambda$ with $d(x_0, y_0) < \delta$, we have that $W^u_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{y}) \pitchfork W^s_{\varepsilon}(x_0)$ is a single point $z_{x_0,\tilde{y}}$. See Figure 5.
- 2. If $U_{\delta}(\Lambda) = \{(x_0, \tilde{y} \in \Lambda \times \Lambda^f : d(x_0, y_0) < \delta\}, then$

$$\begin{bmatrix} ., . \end{bmatrix}_{\varepsilon, \delta} : \quad U_{\delta}(\Lambda) \quad \to \quad \Lambda \\ (x_0, \tilde{y}) \quad \mapsto \quad z_{x_0, \tilde{y}}$$

is continuous.

3. If Λ is a basic (maximal and transitive) subset for f, then for all $(x_0, \tilde{y}) \in U_{\delta}(\Lambda)$ there is a single point $\tilde{w} \in \Lambda^f$ such that $\pi(\tilde{w}) = z_{x_0,\tilde{y}}$ and $d(w_{-n}, y_{-n}) < \varepsilon$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

Remark 2. We need that Λ is an axiom A basic set only for the uniqueness of \tilde{w} . Its existence is given by the definition of local unstable manifold.



Figure 5 – The local product between x_0 and y_0 is obtained from the intersection of the stable manifold for x_0 and an unstable manifold for y_0 . The unstable manifold depends on a choice of pre images for y_0 , given by \tilde{y} .

In what follows, we prove the Shadowing Lemma for endomorphisms, which is already stated in [49, Corollary 1.14] and [4, Theorem 1.2.1], with our proof here being an adaptation of [55, Proposition 8.20] to endomorphisms. Remember that a bi-infinite pseudo-orbit for and endomorphism $f: M \to M$ is not shadowed by M, but by a point of the natural extension M^f .

Theorem 9 (Shadowing Lemma). Let Λ be a hyperbolic set for the C^r endomorphism $f: U \subseteq M \to M, r > 1$. If Λ has local product structure, then for any $\beta > 0$ there is $\alpha > 0$ such that all α -pseudo-orbit in Λ is β -shadowed.

Proof. Consider in M the adapted metric, that is, a metric equivalent to the Riemannian metric such that, for $\lambda \in (0, 1)$,

$$||Df_x(v)|| \leq \lambda ||v|| \quad \text{if } v \in E^s(x)$$
$$||Df_{x_0}(v)|| \geq \lambda^{-1} ||v|| \quad \text{if } v \in E^u(\tilde{x}).$$

Let $0 < \varepsilon < (1 - \lambda)\beta$ be sufficiently small for the existence of local stable and unstable manifolds. Consider $0 < \eta = \frac{\varepsilon}{1 - \lambda} < \beta$. By Theorem 8, there is $0 < \delta < \min\{\varepsilon, \beta - \eta\}$ such that

$$[.,.]_{\varepsilon,2\delta}: U_{\delta}(\Lambda) \to \Lambda$$

 $(x_0,\tilde{y}) \mapsto z_{x_0,\tilde{y}}$

is continuous.

We choose $0 < \alpha < \delta$ such that, given $\tilde{w} \in \Lambda^f$ with $d(z_0, w_0) < \alpha$ we have that

$$[z_0, \pi^{-1}(W^s_{\lambda\delta}(w_0) \cap \Lambda)] \subset W^s_{\delta}(z_0).$$

Such α exists by the continuity of the local product. See Figure 6.

Given a finite α -pseudo-orbit $\underline{x} = \{x_0, \ldots, x_n\}$ in Λ , we define inductively $\tilde{y}_0, \ldots, \tilde{y}_n$ with



- Figure 6 We illustrate the choice of α in such way that the local unstable manifolds passing through the local stable manifold of w_0 intercept the local stable manifold of z_0 at a single point.
 - 1. $y_0 := x_0 \in \Lambda$ and we fix a $\tilde{y}_0 \in \pi^{-1}(y_0)$.
 - 2. $y_1 := [x_1, \tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_0)]$. This local product is well defined because

$$d(x_1, \pi(f(\tilde{y}_0))) = d(x_1, f(x_0)) < \alpha < \delta.$$

Besides, from the definition of α and since $d(x_1, \pi(\tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_0))) < \alpha$, we have that $y_1 = [x_1, \tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_0)] \in W^s_{\delta}(x_1).$

We choose \tilde{y}_1 as a point of Λ^f such that $\pi(\tilde{y}_1) = y_1$ and $d((\tilde{y}_1)_{-n}, (\tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_0))_{-n}) < \varepsilon$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, that exists due to the definition of local stable manifold.

3. We define $y_k := [x_k, \tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_{k-1})]$ for $1 \leq k \leq n$, and \tilde{y}_k as a point of Λ^f such that $\pi(\tilde{y}_k) = y_k$ and $d((\tilde{y}_k)_{-n}, (\tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_{k-1}))_{-n}) < \varepsilon$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$.

$$x_{0} = y_{0} \xrightarrow{f(x_{0})} f(x_{1}) \xrightarrow{f(x_{1})} f($$

Figure 7 – We start with $x_0 = y_0$. At the next step, y_1 is defined as the intersection between the stable manifold of x_1 and the unstable manifold of $\tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_0)$. Thus, the define y_i inductively.

To check that y_k are well defined, we first prove by induction that $y_k \in W^s_{\delta}(x_k)$. Indeed, we saw that $y_1 \in W^s_{\delta}(x_1)$, so it remains to assume the induction hypothesis and conclude that it holds for k. Suppose that $y_{k-1} \in W^s_{\delta}(x_{k-1})$. Then $f(y_{k-1}) \in W^s_{\lambda\delta}(f(x_{k-1}))$. Since

$$d(x_k, f(x_{k-1})) < \alpha$$

by the definition of α , we have that

$$[x_k, \pi^{-1}(W^s_{\lambda\delta}(f(x_{k-1})) \cap \Lambda)] \subset W^s_{\delta}(x_k).$$

Therefore, $y_k = [x_k, \tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_{k-1})] \in W^s_{\delta}(x_k).$

To conclude that $y_k = [x_k, \tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_{k-1})]$ is well defined, it suffices to prove that

$$d(x_k, \pi \circ \tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_{k-1})) = d(x_k, f(y_{k-1})) < 2\delta$$

But $d(x_k, f(y_{k-1})) \leq d(x_k, f(x_{k-1})) + d(f(x_{k-1}), f(y_{k-1}))$. The first term is lesser than α , since \underline{x} is an α -pseudo-orbit.

Since $y_{k-1} \in W^s_{\delta}(x_{k-1})$, then $f(y_{k-1}) \in W^s_{\lambda\delta}(f(x_{k-1}))$, thus $d(f(x_{k-1}), f(y_{k-1})) < \lambda\delta.$

Therefore, $d(x_k, f(y_{k-1})) < \alpha + \lambda \delta < 2\delta$.

Now let us see how to use \tilde{y}_i to find the shadowing orbit for the α -pseudo-orbit

 \underline{x} .

Since, by definition, $y_k \in W^u_{\varepsilon}(\tilde{f}(\tilde{y}_{k-1}))$, then, for $j \in Z^+$,

$$f^{j}(y_{k}) \in W^{u}_{\lambda^{-j}\varepsilon}(\tilde{f}^{j+1}(\tilde{y}_{k-1}))$$

$$(1.1)$$

and, with $\tilde{y}_k = (..., (\tilde{y}_k)_{-2}, (\tilde{y}_k)_{-1}, y_k, f(y_k), f^2(y_k), ...)$, we have that

$$(\tilde{y}_k)_{-j} \in W^u_{\lambda^j \varepsilon}(\tilde{f}^{-(j-1)}(\tilde{y}_{k-1})).$$
(1.2)

Claim: $\tilde{y} := \tilde{f}^{-n}(\tilde{y}_n) \beta$ -shadows \underline{x} , that is, $y = \pi(\tilde{y}) = (\tilde{y}_n)_{-n}$ satisfies $d(f^i(y), x_i) < \beta$ for $i = 0, \ldots, n$.

Indeed, we have that

$$d((\tilde{y}_k)_{-j}, y_{k-j}) < \theta_j := \sum_{i=1}^j \lambda^j \varepsilon,$$
(1.3)

for $k, j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $0 \leq j \leq k \leq n$, that can be verified inductively over j by 1.2.

Remark 3. In [55], in the case that f is a diffeomorphism, we have that $(\tilde{y}_k)_{-j} \in W^u_{\theta_j}(y_{k-j})$, that does not hold in our case due to the existence of multiple unstable directions. However, the inequality 1.3 still holds. See Figure 8.



Figure 8 – The unstable leaf of $f(y_{k-1})$ is not necessarily the one of y_k , but we can still control their distances.

Thus,
$$d(y, x_0) = d((\tilde{y}_n)_{-n}, y_0) < \theta_n < \eta < \beta$$
 and
$$d(f(y), x_1) = d((\tilde{y}_n)_{-(n-1)}, x_1) \leq d((\tilde{y}_n)_{-(n-1)}, y_1) + d(y_1, x_1) < \eta + \delta < \beta$$

where the second term is lesser than δ since $y_k \in W^s_{\delta}(x_k)$ and the first one is lesser than η due to inequality 1.3.

In the same way, for the general case with $1 \leq i \leq n$,

$$d(f^{i}(y), x_{i}) = d((\tilde{y}_{n})_{-(n-i)}, x_{i}) \leq d((\tilde{y}_{n})_{-(n-i)}, y_{i}) + d(y_{i}, x_{i}) < \eta + \delta < \beta,$$

and this concludes the claim.

For any finite pseudo-orbit, the previous proof applies by reindexing the sequence to make the first term x_0 .

If \underline{x} is a bi-infinite α -pseudo-orbit,

$$\underline{x} = (\dots, x_{-2}, x_{-1}, x_0, x_1, x_2, \dots),$$

each finite segment $\underline{x}_{a,b}$ of \underline{x} is β -shadowed by an orbit $\tilde{y}_{a,b}$. Let

$$\mathcal{A} := \{ (a, b) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z} \text{ such that } a < b - 1 \},\$$

then $\{\tilde{y}_{a,b}: (a,b) \in \mathcal{A}\}$ is countable in Λ^f compact, thus it has an accumulation point \tilde{y} , that β -shadows \underline{x} .

To apply the Shadowing Lemma to construct a conjugacy between the natural extensions of nearby Anosov endomorphisms, we need the uniqueness of the shadowing for small β . In the invertible case, this is guaranteed by the expansivity, and here we generalize this concept.

Definition 24. If $f: X \to X$ is a continuous and surjective function the compact metric space X, we say that f is *c*-expansive if there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that, if \tilde{x} and \tilde{y} are distinct points of the natural extension X^f , there is $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $d(x_i, y_i) > \varepsilon$.

Equivalently, f is c-expansive if there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that if $d(x_k, y_y) < \varepsilon$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $\tilde{x} = \tilde{y}$.

See [4] for the properties of c-expansive functions. For instance, the following result [4, Theorem 2.2.29] can be easily verified.

Proposition 7 ([4]). $f: X \to X$ is c-expansive if and only if $\tilde{f}: X^f \to X^f$ is expansive at the natural extension.

Other result of [4] is the following.

Proposition 8 ([4]). If Λ is a hyperbolic set for the endomorphism $f : U \subseteq M \to M$, then f is c-expansive in Λ .

Thus, we have c-expansivity for hyperbolic sets of endomorphisms, and taking β in Theorem 9 to be half the expansivity constant, we get uniqueness. The conjugacy between \tilde{f} and \tilde{g} , the inverse limit of two nearby Anosov endomorphisms, is given as follows: if $d_{C^1}(f,g) < \alpha$, then any $\tilde{x} \in M^f$ is an α -pseudo orbit for g, thus it is β -shadowed by a unique $\tilde{y} \in M^g$; we define $\tilde{h}(\tilde{x}) = \tilde{y}$ that takes each pseudo orbit to its shadowing, and we can prove that \tilde{h} is a conjugacy, as in the invertible case [52, Theorem 7.1].

The proofs of this section are valid without the differentiable structure. We say that a local homeomorphism $f: M \to M$ is an *topological Anosov map* if it is a continuous surjection that has the shadowing property and is c-expansive. Topological Anosov maps are stable on the natural extension [4, Theorem 6.8.1].

Having a conjugacy between the natural extensions of two nearby Anosov endomorphisms could cause us to think we can project it somehow, but if it projects, then f and g would be at least topologically semiconjugate. In the case that g is special and fis not, it cannot occur, as we show in Proposition 11.

1.3.2 Conjugacy with a linear model

Given an Anosov endomorphism $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$, its *linearization* $A : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ is the unique linear toral endomorphism homotopic to f, that is, $A = f_*$ extended from \mathbb{Z}^n to \mathbb{T}^n . Often the behavior of f is related to the one of A. In fact, if f is invertible or expansive, f and A are topologically conjugate. In the more general non-invertible setting, since a conjugacy should preserve stable and unstable manifolds, it does not exist if f is not special.

With the results of the previous subsection, we see that f and A are conjugate at the natural extension level [49, Theorem 1.20], but if this conjugacy projects to the original manifold \mathbb{T}^n then f is special, a necessary condition to establish the conjugacy between f and A. We can approach the conjugacy using the universal cover, as was classically done for diffeomorphisms [21, 39].

The version of Theorem E given by F. Micena requires the Anosov endomorphism to be strongly special — that is, $W_f^s(x)$ is dense for each $x \in M$ — in order to guarantee the existence of conjugacy with its linearization. This relies on Proposition 9 stated below and given by Aoki and Hiraide in [4] for topological Anosov maps.

Proposition 9 ([4]). If $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ is a strongly special Anosov endomorphism, then its linearization A is hyperbolic and f is topologically conjugate to A.

We know that Anosov endomorphisms on tori are topologically transitive, and a classical open question is whether every Anosov diffeomorphism is transitive. For diffeomorphisms, transitivity is equivalent to the density of stable and unstable manifolds.

However even in the transitive case, general Anosov endomorphisms may have non-dense stable manifolds. For instance, consider the linear Anosov endomorphism on \mathbb{T}^3 induced by the matrix

	(2)	1	0	
A =	1	1	0	
	$\sqrt{0}$	0	$_2)$	

It is easy to check that dim $E^u = 2$, dim $E^s = 1$, $A : \mathbb{T}^3 \to \mathbb{T}^3$ is transitive and $W^u_A(x)$ is dense in \mathbb{T}^3 for each x, but, if $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{T}^3$, $W^s_A(x)$ is restricted to $\mathbb{T}^2 \times \{x_3\}$, then it is not dense.

More recently, S. Moosavi and K. Tajbakhsh [45] proved, similarly to Aoki and Hiraide, that the hypothesis on the density of the stable set is not required, and extended the conjugacy result to topological Anosov maps on nil-manifolds. As a consequence, we have the following.

Proposition 10 ([58, 45]). An Anosov endomorphism $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ is special if and only if it is conjugate to its linearization by a map $h : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ homotopic to Id.

We saw in Example 1 that a small perturbation of a special Anosov endomorphism may be not special, and in particular, a perturbation can have uncountable many unstable directions on a given point. This is an obstruction to topological conjugacy. On the universal cover, however, we do have a conjugacy.

If $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ is an Anosov endomorphism, by [4, Theorem 8.2.1] there is a unique continuous surjection $H : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ on the universal cover with

- $A \circ H = H \circ F;$
- *H* is uniformly close to *Id*;
- *H* is uniformly continuous.

And, by [4, Proposition 8.4.2], the inverse H^{-1} exists and it is uniformly continuous, regardless of the distance between f and A. These two results hold for f topological Anosov map on the *n*-torus, with the *c*-expansivity playing a key hole to the injectivity of H as in Section 1.3.1.

A necessary condition for H to project to the torus is that f is special. In fact, we prove that even the existence of a semiconjugacy with the linearization on \mathbb{T}^n implies that f is special.

Proposition 11 ([12]). Let $f : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ be an Anosov endomorphism and A its linearization. If A is a factor of f, then f is special.

Proof. Supposing that A is a factor of f, then there is a continuous surjective map $h : \mathbb{T}^n \to \mathbb{T}^n$ with $h \circ f = A \circ h$. Considering H a lift of h to \mathbb{R}^n , we have that H(x+a) = H(x) + Ba for each $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $a \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, where $B : \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathbb{Z}^n$. Let $F, A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be lifts of f and A.

For $x \sim y$, i.e., y = x + a with $a \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we prove that $p(W_F^u(x)) = p(W_F^u(y))$. Since *H* takes unstable leaves of *F* to unstable lines of *A*, then

$$\begin{split} H(W^u_F(x)) &= W^u_A(H(x)) \text{ and} \\ H(W^u_F(y)) &= H(W^u_F(x+a)) = W^u_A(H(x+a)) = W^u_A(H(x)) + Ba. \end{split}$$
 For any $z \in W^u_F(x)$, we have $H(z) \in W^u_A(H(x))$, then
$$H(z) + Ba \in W^u_A(H(x)) + Ba = H(W^u_F(y)). \end{split}$$

By [4], *H* is invertible, then H(z) + Ba = H(z+a) and, therefore, $z+a \in W_F^u(y)$. Therefore $p(W_F^u(x)) \subseteq p(W_F^u(y))$, and the converse inclusion is analogous.

Thus, the set of unstable directions projected from the universal cover for each point in \mathbb{T}^n is unitary. Since the set of all unstable directions for a point is the closure of the ones projected from the universal cover [44, Proposition 2.5], we conclude that f is special.



Figure 9 – For any point on $W_F^u(x)$, we show that its image under a deck transformation +a is contained on $W_F^u(x+a)$.

In the conclusion of the previous result, we get that the invariance under deck transformations of the unstable leaves on the universal cover is equivalent to f being special, and the existence of a semiconjugacy on the torus would imply this invariance because H is invertible.

1.3.3 Lyapunov exponents

Given a differentiable dynamical system $f: M \to M$, Lyapunov exponents are quantities defined for almost every point that describe the rates of exponential growth along some directions of the tangent space $T_x M$. Their existence and properties are given by the *Multiplicative Ergodic Theorem*, as follows.

Theorem 10 ([51]). For $f: M \to M$ a C^1 endomorphism, there is a f-invariant Borel subset $N \subseteq M$ that has full μ -measure for any f-invariant probability μ and

- 1. there is a measurable function $r: N \to \mathbb{Z}^+$ with $r \circ f = r$;
- 2. there are real numbers $+\infty > \lambda^1(x) > \lambda^2(x) > \cdots > \lambda^{r(x)}(x) \ge -\infty$ for all $x \in N$;
- 3. for all $x \in N$, there are linear subspaces of T_xM with

$$V^{(0)}(x) = T_x M \supset V^{(1)} \supset \dots \supset V^{(r(x))} = \{0\}$$

4. for $x \in N$ and $1 \leq i \leq r(x)$, we have for all $v \in V^{(i-1)}(x) \setminus V^{(i)}(x)$ that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log |Df^n(x) \cdot v| = \lambda^i(x) \text{ and}$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log |Df^n(x) \cdot v| = \sum_{i=1}^{r(x)} \lambda^i(x) m_i(x),$$
where $m_i(x) = \dim V^{(i-1)}(x) - \dim V^{(i)}(x)$ for all $1 \le i \le r(x);$

- 5. $\lambda^{i}(x)$ is measurably defined on $\{x \in N : r(x) \ge i\}$ and f-invariant;
- 6. $V^{(i)}(x)$ is Df-invariant for all $1 \leq i \leq r(x)$.

The numbers $\lambda^1(x), \dots \lambda^{r(x)}(x)$ are called *Lyapunov exponents* of f at the point x and $m_i(x)$ are their *multiplicity*.

If (f,μ) is ergodic, then r(x) and $\lambda^i(x)$, for all $1 \leq i \leq r(x)$, are constants μ -almost everywhere. Additionally, if (f,μ) satisfies the integrability condition $\log |\det Df(x)| \in L^1(\mu)$, then we have that

$$\int_{M} \log |\det Df(x)| \mu(x) = \int_{N} \sum_{i=1}^{r(x)} \lambda^{i}(x) m_{i}(x) \mu(x).$$

We saw in Section 1.1.1 that the conjugacy of derivatives of corresponding periodic points is a necessary condition to have C^1 conjugacy. For our rigidity result, Theorem E, we require that corresponding periodic points have the same Lyapunov exponents. Let us see that these conditions are equivalent in the context of this work.

Consider $f, g: M \to M$ topologically conjugate endomorphisms, $h \circ f = g \circ h$. If $Df_x^p = B^{-1} \circ Dg_{h(x)}^p \circ B$ for all periodic x with $f^p(x) = x$, then the matrix B gives a change of basis between the $V^{(i)}$ directions of f and g, with the same Lyapunov exponents at the periodic points.

Reciprocally, if Df(x) and Dg(x) are diagonalizable for each $x \in M$ — that is the case if $M = \mathbb{T}^2$ and f and g are uniformly hyperbolic —, then

$$\lambda_f^i(x) = \lambda_q^i(h(x))$$

implies the conjugacy of derivatives of corresponding periodic points. Indeed, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there are $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $r \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}$ such that n = kp + r. Then we can decompose the derivatives to compute the Lyapunov exponents as

$$Df^{n}(x) = D(f^{k} \circ D^{kp})(x) = Df^{r}(x)(Df^{p}(x))^{k}$$

and, analogously, $Dg^{n}(h(x)) = Dg^{r}(h(x))(Dg^{p}(h(x)))^{k}$.

Then we have that

$$\lambda_f^i(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log |Df^r(x)(Df^p(x))^k|$$

=
$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{1}{kp+r} \log |Df^r(x)| + \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{k}{kp+r} \log |Df^p(x)|$$

=
$$\frac{1}{p} \log |Df^p(x)|,$$

and $\lambda_g^i(h(x)) = \frac{1}{p} \log |Dg^p(h(x))|$ along one dimensional corresponding directions, that is, $|Df^p(x)| = |Dg^p(h(x))|$ along these directions and the matrices are conjugate.

2 Holonomies for foliations with extreme disintegration behavior

In this chapter, we explore the relation of two approaches to the regularity of a foliation with respect to the Lebesgue measure: by the regularity of the associated conditional measures (leafwise absolute continuity), or by the measurable regularity of the holonomy maps (transverse absolute continuity), as introduced in Sections 1.2.3 and 1.2.4.

As we have mentioned, the transverse absolute continuity is stronger than leafwise absolute continuity, and, in Theorem A, we prove an analogous result for their respective uniform formulations: transverse absolute continuity with uniformly bounded Jacobians is stronger than leafwise absolute continuity with uniformly bounded densities (and we call this *UBD property*).

Conversely, in the unpublished notes [50], the authors prove that leafwise absolute continuity implies transverse absolute continuity "almost everywhere". More precisely, they prove that, if a foliation is leafwise absolutely continuous, then for any transversely absolutely continuous transverse local foliation \mathcal{T} , we have that the \mathcal{F} holonomies between almost every pair of \mathcal{T} -leaves are absolutely continuous. We also provide a proof of a similar result for foliations having the UBD property. In Theorem B, we prove that if a foliation has the UBD property, then for any transversely absolutely continuous local foliation \mathcal{T} with uniformly bounded Jacobians and transverse to \mathcal{F} , we have that the \mathcal{F} -holonomies between almost every pair of \mathcal{T} -leaves are absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobians. This result answers a question left as a footnote in [43], when the authors define the UBD property.

These results also motivate the hypothesis that the stable and unstable foliations have the UBD property in Theorem D that we prove in the next chapter, since requiring that the Jacobian for the holonomies are uniformly bounded is common when studying hyperbolic dynamics.

Another extreme behavior for a foliation — in contrast to the regularity given by absolute continuity — is atomic disintegration, that is, when the conditionals are sums of Dirac measures for almost every leaf. In this case, if almost every leaf has at most katoms, we prove in Theorem 5 that almost every holonomy should take a full Lebesgue measure set to a null one.

2.1 Proof of Theorem A

Consider \mathcal{T} a transverse local foliation to \mathcal{F} . Take \mathcal{T} to be transversely absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobians and with the UBD property. There is a foliation coordinate chart (U, h) for \mathcal{F} such that U is a foliated box for both \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{T} . Hereafter, all the computations take place on U, and we omit it from the notation.

Let *m* be the normalized volume on U, $\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}$ the induced normalized volume on $\mathcal{F}(x)$ and $m_{\mathcal{F}}(x)$ the conditional of the volume on $\mathcal{F}(x)$.

Since \mathcal{T} has the UBD property, then the densities $\delta_y = \frac{dm_{\mathcal{T}(y)}}{d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(y)}}$ are uniformly bounded for each leaf $\mathcal{T}(y)$.

For each measurable $A \subseteq U$ we have, using the conditionals, that

$$m(A) = \int_{\mathcal{F}(x)} \int_{\mathcal{T}(y)} \chi_A(z) \delta_y(z) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(y)}(z) d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}(y).$$
(2.1)

Fixed $x \in U$, consider the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F},y} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(y)$ that takes $\mathcal{T}(x)$ to $\mathcal{T}(y)$ through the leaves of \mathcal{F} and $q_{\mathcal{F},y}$ its Jacobian. Then

$$\int_{\mathcal{T}(y)} \chi_A(z) \delta_y(z) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(y)}(z) = \int_{\mathcal{T}(x)} \chi_A(h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s) \delta_y(h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}(s), \qquad (2.2)$$

since

$$\int_{\mathcal{T}(x)} \chi_C(z) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(z) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)} = \int_{\mathcal{T}(y)} \chi_{h_{\mathcal{F},y}(C)}(s) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(y)}(s)$$

by the definition of Jacobian, and $\chi_{f(C)} = \chi_C \circ f^{-1}$.

By replacing (2.2) in the equation (2.1) and switching the order of integration, we have that

$$m(A) = \int_{\mathcal{T}(x)} \int_{\mathcal{F}(x)} \chi_A(h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s) \delta_y(h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)) d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}(y) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}(s).$$
(2.3)

Consider the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{T},s}: \mathcal{F}(x) \to \mathcal{F}(s)$ that takes $\mathcal{F}(x)$ to $\mathcal{F}(s)$ through the leaves of \mathcal{T} and $q_{\mathcal{T},s}$ its Jacobian. Consider the change of variables $r = h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)$, $y = h_{\mathcal{T},x}(r) = h_{\mathcal{T},s}^{-1}(r)$. Then

$$\int_{\mathcal{F}(x)} \chi_A(h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s) \delta_y(h_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)) d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(x)}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{F}(s)} \chi_A(r) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s) \delta_y(r) q_{\mathcal{T},s}^{-1}(r) d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(s)}(r),$$
(2.4)

therefore

$$m(A) = \int_{\mathcal{T}(x)} \int_{\mathcal{F}(s)} \chi_A(r) \delta_y(r) q_{\mathcal{T},s}^{-1}(r) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s) d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(s)}(r) d\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}(s).$$
(2.5)

Thus, $\delta_s(r) := \delta_y(r) q_{\mathcal{T},s}^{-1}(r) q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)$ is the density $\frac{dm_{\mathcal{F}(s)}}{d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}(s)}}$. The Jacobian $q_{\mathcal{T},s}^{-1}$ is uniformly bounded, since \mathcal{T} is transversely absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded



Figure 10 – We change the variables from y and s to r and s.

Jacobians, and \mathcal{T} also has the UBD property, then $\delta_y(r)$ is also uniformly bounded. Finally, $q_{\mathcal{F},y}(s)$ is uniformly bounded by our hypothesis on \mathcal{F} , and we conclude that δ_s is uniformly bounded.

2.2 Proof of Theorem B

F.

Let (U, h) be a foliation coordinate chart for \mathcal{F} in such way that U is also a foliated box for \mathcal{T} . The strategy of this proof is to construct a family of functions that have uniformly bounded Jacobian, that restricted to \mathcal{F} -leaves are translations with uniformly bounded Jacobian, and that restricted to \mathcal{T} -leaves are holonomies along \mathcal{F} . Using this family of functions, we prove that $h_{\mathcal{F}}$ has uniformly bounded Jacobian for almost every pair of \mathcal{T} -leaves.

Fixed $F = \mathcal{F}(x)$ a leaf of \mathcal{F} on U, there is a diffeomorphism $i: F \to \mathbb{R}^k$, which allows us to pullback to F the action by translations on \mathbb{R}^k . More precisely, if the action $a: \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^k$ is defined by $g \cdot x = a(g, x) = g + x$, then the pullback action is given by

$$\overline{a}: \mathbb{R}^k \times F \to F$$

$$(g, x) \mapsto i^{-1}(g \cdot i(x))$$

Having no risk of ambiguity, we denote $g \cdot x = \overline{a}(g, x)$ as the induced action on

For every $g \in \mathbb{R}^k$, since $a(g, \cdot)$ is smooth and preserves the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^k , then $\overline{a}(g, \cdot)$ is C^1 (it is as regular as the leaves of \mathcal{F}) and absolutely continuous. However, since *i* takes a bounded manifold F to \mathbb{R}^k , it takes sets of fixed volume on F to arbitrarily large sets on \mathbb{R}^k , therefore $\overline{a}(g, \cdot)$ does not have bounded Jacobian. To overcome this, consider $V \subseteq U$ a compact foliated box for \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{T} , and $\tilde{F} = F \cap V$. We only consider holonomies between leaves of \mathcal{T} intercepting \tilde{F} , that is, between $\mathcal{T}(x)$ and $\mathcal{T}(x')$ with $x, x' \in \tilde{F}$. Then, consider $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^k$ such that $g \in A$ implies that $\bar{a}(g, \cdot) : \tilde{F} \to F$ has image satisfying $\bar{a}(g, \tilde{F}) \cap \tilde{F} \neq \emptyset$. It is easy to see that A is closed and its interior is a non-empty neighborhood of 0 in \mathbb{R}^k . For $g \in A$, let $F_g := \bar{a}(-g, \bar{a}(g, \tilde{F}) \cap \tilde{F}) \neq \emptyset$ be the pre image of $\bar{a}(g, \tilde{F}) \cap \tilde{F}$ under $\bar{a}(g, \cdot)$. In other words, F_g is the subset of \tilde{F} that remains inside \tilde{F} after the translation by g. Then there exists a constant C_V such that, for all $g \in A$, $\bar{a}(g, \cdot)$ restricted to F_g has Jacobian $q_{\bar{a},g}$ satisfying

$$\frac{1}{C_V} < q_{\overline{a},g} < C_V,$$

since i restricted to \tilde{F} and i^{-1} restricted to $d(\tilde{F})$ are C^1 functions over fixed compact sets.

Hereafter, all the leaves are local leaves with respect to the foliated box V. We can use the holonomies along the leaves of \mathcal{F} to define, for each $g \in A$, a homeomorphism

$$h_g: V_g \to h_g(V_g) \subseteq V$$
, where $V_g = \bigcup_{x \in F_g} \mathcal{T}(x)$.

We define h_g as follows: for $y \in V_g$, there is $x \in F_g$ such that $y \in \mathcal{T}(x)$. Considering the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(g \cdot x)$,

$$\begin{array}{rccc} h_g: & V_g & \to & h_g(V_g) \\ & y & \mapsto & h_{\mathcal{F}}(y). \end{array}$$

In other words, $h_g(y) = h_{\mathcal{T}}(g \cdot h_{\mathcal{T}}^{-1}(y))$, where $h_{\mathcal{T}} : F \to \mathcal{F}(y)$ is the holonomy along the leaves of \mathcal{T} . Also, by the construction of h_g , its restriction to \mathcal{T} -leaves is the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(g \cdot x)$.



Figure 11 – We define h_g as a translation on \mathcal{F} -leaves with restrictions to \mathcal{T} -leaves being \mathcal{F} -holonomies.

We have that h_g restricted to \mathcal{F} -leaves is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian. Indeed, given a leaf $\mathcal{F}(y)$ and a measurable $I \subseteq \mathcal{F}(y) \cap V_g$, we have that $h_g(I) = h_{\mathcal{T}}(g \cdot h_{\mathcal{T}}^{-1}(I))$, with the holonomies $h_{\mathcal{T}}$ along the leaves of \mathcal{T} having uniformly bounded Jacobian and $\overline{a}(g, \cdot)$ also being bounded with the constant C_V that does not depend on g.

Furthermore, if $z \in \mathcal{F}(y)$, then $h_g(z) \in \mathcal{F}(y)$. This means that h_g preserves a measure transverse to the foliation \mathcal{F} . But h_g restricted to \mathcal{F} -leaves is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian, thus $h_g: V_g \to h_g(V_g)$ is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian.

We have a map h_g that is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian for whole open sets in the manifold and along the foliation \mathcal{F} . But, restricted to \mathcal{T} -leaves, this map is precisely the \mathcal{F} -holonomies, which we want to prove that is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian along \mathcal{T} . Thus, the heart of the proof is the following lemma.

Lemma 1. There exists a constant C > 1 such that, for each $g \in A$, there is a λ_{F_g} -full measure set $X_g \subseteq F_g$ such that for each $x \in X_g$ the holonomy $h_g|_{\mathcal{T}(x)} = h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(g \cdot x)$ is absolutely continuous and its Jacobian q satisfies $q \leq C$.

Proof. Suppose that the lemma does not hold. Then for each C > 1 there exists $g \in A$ and $B = B_{C,g} \subseteq F_g$ with positive volume such that for each $x \in B$ we have that $h_g|_{\mathcal{T}(x)} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(g \cdot x)$ does not have Jacobian q satisfying $q \leq C$. Thus, for each $x \in B$, there is $Z_{x,C} \subseteq \mathcal{T}(x)$ with positive volume such that q(y) > C for all $y \in Z_{x,C}$.

Let z be a density point of $Z_{x,C}$ with respect to the volume measure $\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}$ on the leaf. That is, if $B_{\mathcal{T}}(z,\delta)$ is the ball of center z and radius δ on the leaf and $Z_{x,C,\delta} := Z_{x,C} \cap B_{\mathcal{T}}(z,\delta)$, then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}(Z_{x,C,\delta})}{\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(x)}(B_{\mathcal{T}}(z,\delta))} = 1$$

Since the foliation \mathcal{T} is continuous, the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}}$ along \mathcal{F} leaves is continuous and the Lebesgue volumes on \mathcal{T} -leaves vary continuously, then, for a sufficiently small interval $I \subseteq \mathcal{F}(z)$ containing z, we can estimate the volumes of the images of $Z_{x,C,\delta}$ under \mathcal{F} -holonomies and its images under h_g . More precisely, for all $w \in I$, considering $h_{\mathcal{F},w}: \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(w)$, we have that $Z_{w,C,\delta} := h_{\mathcal{F},w}(Z_{x,C,\delta})$ satisfies

$$\frac{\delta}{2} \leqslant \lambda_{\mathcal{T}(w)}(Z_{w,C,\delta}) \leqslant \frac{3\delta}{2}$$

Moreover, its image $h_g(Z_{w,C,\delta})$ satisfies

$$\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(g \cdot w)}(h_g(Z_{w,C,\delta})) \ge \frac{C\delta}{2},$$

since it is close to $h_g(Z_{x,C,\delta})$. Therefore, we have that

$$\lambda_{\mathcal{T}(g\cdot w)}(h_g(Z_{w,C,\delta})) > \frac{C}{4} \lambda_{\mathcal{T}(w)}(Z_{w,C,\delta}).$$
(2.6)

Fixed C > 1, a small $\delta > 0$ and I sufficiently small so that the above inequality holds, consider $Z := \bigcup_{w \in I} Z_{w,C,\delta}$. To see that Z is measurable, it suffices to "see" it as a product of I and $Z_{x,C,\delta}$. Indeed, consider

$$\rho: Z \to I \times Z_{x,C,\delta}$$
$$p \mapsto (h_{\mathcal{T},z}(p), h_{\mathcal{F},z}(p)),$$

where $h_{\mathcal{T},z}: \mathcal{F}(p) \to \mathcal{F}(z)$ is the holonomy along \mathcal{T} -leaves and $h_{\mathcal{F},z}: \mathcal{T}(p) \to \mathcal{T}(z)$ is the holonomy along \mathcal{F} -leaves. By our definition of Z and the fact that the holonomies are continuous, we have that ρ is a homeomorphism, and then Z is measurable.

Since \mathcal{T} is transversely absolutely continuous by hypothesis, then Z has positive volume. We aim to conclude that $m(h_g(Z)) > \alpha Cm(Z)$ for some fixed constat α , which leads to a contradiction to the fact that $h_g: V_g \to h_g(V_g)$ has uniformly bounded Jacobian.

Note that
$$h_g(Z) = h_g\left(\bigcup_{w \in I} Z_{w,C,\delta}\right) = \bigcup_{w \in I} h_g(Z_{w,C,\delta})$$
, then

$$\begin{split} n(h_g(Z)) &= \int_{h_g(I)} m_{\mathcal{T}(g \cdot w)}(h_g(Z_{w,C,\delta})) \ d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}} \\ &> \int_{h_g(I)} \frac{1}{K} \lambda_{\mathcal{T}(g \cdot w)}(h_g(Z_{w,C,\delta})) \ d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}} \\ &\stackrel{(2.6)}{\geqslant} \int_I \frac{C}{4K} \lambda_{\mathcal{T}(w)}(Z_{w,C,\delta}) \ d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}} \\ &> \int_I \frac{C}{4K^2} m_{\mathcal{T}(w)}(Z_{w,C,\delta}) \ d\lambda_{\mathcal{F}} = \frac{C}{4K^2} m(Z) \end{split}$$

where K is the constant from the UBD property. Since K does not depend on C or g, we have that for each C > 1, there is $g \in A$ such that h_g is not uniformly bounded, a contradiction.

Analogously to Lemma 1, we prove that

γ

Lemma 2. There exists a constant C > 1 such that, for each $g \in A$, there is a λ_{F_g} -full measure set $Y_g \subseteq F_g$ such that for each $x \in Y_g$ the holonomy $h_g|_{\mathcal{T}(x)} = h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(g \cdot x)$ is absolutely continuous and its Jacobian q satisfies $\frac{1}{C} < q$.

Now we proceed to prove that $h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(x')$ is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian for almost every $(x, x') \in \tilde{F} \times \tilde{F}$. Consider

$$\tilde{F} \times \tilde{F} = \bigcup_{g \in A} \{ (x, g \cdot x) : x \in F_g \},\$$

as a partition of the product $\tilde{F} \times \tilde{F}$. This is indeed a partition since, for all $x, y \in \tilde{F}$, there exists a unique g such that $g \cdot x = y$. Moreover, \tilde{F} is C^1 , and each set $\mathcal{G}_g := \{(x, g \cdot x) : x \in F_g\}$ is also C^1 . Therefore, the partition $\{\mathcal{G}_g\}_{g \in A}$ is in fact a foliation of $\tilde{F} \times \tilde{F}$ homeomorphic to an affine foliation of $\mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^k$ by k-plaques restricted to the box $B(0, 1) \times B(0, 1)$, with B(0, 1) a unit ball in \mathbb{R}^k .

By the Lemmas 1 and 2, for each $g \in A$ there is a full volume set $Z_g = X_g \cap Y_g$ in F_g such that, for every $x \in Z_g$, the holonomy between $\mathcal{T}(x)$ and $\mathcal{T}(g \cdot x)$ is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian. Thus, for all

$$(x, x') \in \bigcup_{g \in A} \{ (x, g \cdot x) : x \in Z_g \},\$$

the holonomy $h_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{T}(x) \to \mathcal{T}(x')$ is absolutely continuous with uniformly bounded Jacobian. But $Z_g \times g \cdot Z_g$ is a full measure subset of \mathcal{G}_g , then a Fubini argument guarantees that such pairs form a full measure set of $\tilde{F} \times \tilde{F}$.

3 Rigidity for Anosov Endomorphisms on surfaces

In this chapter, we prove two results to obtain as a corollary Theorem C, that characterizes, for Anosov endomorphisms on surfaces, the smooth conjugacy between an Anosov endomorphism and its linearization with the condition that the unstable and stable foliations have a uniform kind of leafwise absolute continuity. This condition is called UBD property, as defined in Section 1.2.4.

In the first result, Theorem D, we obtain a rigidity result relating the Lyapunov exponents with the regularity of the unstable and stable foliations. More precisely, given $f: \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ a smooth Anosov endomorphism, we prove that, if the stable and unstable foliations have the UBD property and a volume condition is satisfied, then the Lyapunov exponents of f are constant and equal to the ones of A. This volume condition replace the role of conservativity for the non-invertible case, and we introduce it with more details along the proof.

The second result, Theorem E, guarantee that, for two surface Anosov endomorphisms that are conjugate, if the Lyapunov exponents on corresponding periodic points coincide, then the conjugacy is as regular as the endomorphisms.

By joining Theorems D and E for f special with the volume condition and g = A, we have that the UBD property implies equality of Lyapunov exponents, which implies that h is as regular as f. Reciprocally, if the conjugacy h is C^{∞} , then a lift H of h takes unstable leaves of F to unstable lines of A, implying the UBD property on the unstable foliation of F. The same holds for the stable foliation, and Theorem C follows.

The results of this chapter were sent to publication and a pre-print is available at [12].

3.1 Proof of Theorem D

Consider $F : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ to be a lift of f to \mathbb{R}^n the universal cover, and $p : x \mapsto [x]$ to be the canonical projection from \mathbb{R}^2 to \mathbb{T}^2 . By [4, Theorem 8.2.1] there is a conjugacy $H : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ between F and A, with $d(H, Id) < \delta$. In particular, this gives us global product structure for the stable and unstable foliations of F.

Proposition 3 implies that the unstable and stable foliations W_F^u and W_F^s are transversely absolutely continuous, therefore being leafwise absolutely continuous. So, by requiring the Uniform Bounded Density property — promoting the leafwise absolute continuity to a uniform formulation — for both foliations, together with the volume condition given by Hypothesis (C), we prove that the exponents are constant at each point on \mathbb{T}^2 . We proceed by proving that $\lambda_f^u \equiv \lambda_A^u$ and the proof for the stable exponents follows analogously by using F^{-1} .

We have that F has exactly one fixed point, because it is conjugate to A, and we can suppose that F(0) = 0. Consider $B := W_F^s(0)$ the stable leaf of 0 with respect to F. We have that B is F-invariant and the unstable leaves of F intersect B transversely at a unique point. Then we can define $p_F^u : \mathbb{R}^2 \to B$ as the projection taking each point z to $W_F^u(z) \cap B$. We can also fix an orientation on each leaf by choosing a connected component of $B \setminus \{0\}$ as positive. Assuming that F preserves the orientation on unstable manifolds, or working with F^2 instead, consider the *foliated strip*

$$\mathcal{B}_0 := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^2 : d^u(p_F^u(y), y) \leqslant \gamma_0, \ y \in W_F^{u,+} \},\$$

where $\gamma_0 > 0$ is a constant that satisfies $p(\mathcal{B}_0) = \mathbb{T}^2$ and is greater than 4δ . We can visualize \mathcal{B}_0 as a strip "above" B whose projection covers the whole torus. Let $\mathcal{B}_k := F^k(\mathcal{B}_0)$ be the iterates of \mathcal{B}_0 . Since B is F-invariant and it expands along the unstable leaves, $\mathcal{B}_{k-1} \subsetneq \mathcal{B}_k$.

Define $m^k := m|_{\mathcal{B}_k}$ to be the induced volume on \mathcal{B}_k . Even with the m^k being an infinite measure, we can still consider conditional probability measures on foliated boxes inside \mathcal{B}_k : m_x^k is the conditional probability measure in $W_k(x) := W_F^u(x) \cap \mathcal{B}_k$ for *m*-almost every point in \mathcal{B}_k . Additionally, this probability measure is unique up to multiplication by a constant for almost every leaf.

Remark 4. Given this setting, before we proceed with the proof, let us explain the Hypothesis (C). We want it to hold to guarantee that, as we iterate under F the conditionals on \mathcal{B}_0 , obtaining $F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0$, they remain uniformly equivalent to the normalized volume $\hat{\lambda}_x^k$ on W_k . This is the condition that allows us to compute the rates of exponential growth of f as being equal to the ones of A along this proof.

Denoting with ~ the uniform equivalence between two measures, we already have that $m_x^k \sim \hat{\lambda}_x^k$ and $F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0 \sim F_*^k \hat{\lambda}_{F^{-k}(x)}^0$ by the UBD property. So, to obtain $F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0 \sim \hat{\lambda}_x^k$ as we wish, it suffices to have that $F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0 \sim m_x^k$ or $F_*^k \hat{\lambda}_{F^{-k}(x)}^0 \sim \hat{\lambda}_x^k$, with the latter being Hypothesis (C), and the both being equivalent under the UBD property. Thus, in this case, Hypothesis (C) regards the relation between $F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0$ and m_x^k . We have that

a)
$$dF_*^k m^0 = \underbrace{|\det DF^{-k}(\cdot)|}_{JF^{-k}(\cdot)} dm^k$$
 in \mathcal{B}_k ;

- b) $\{m_x^k\}_x$ is a disintegration of m^k ;
- c) $\{F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0\}_x$ is a disintegration of $F_*^k m^0$.

Then, for any $\varphi : \mathcal{B}_k \to \mathbb{R}$, we have on one hand that

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_k} \varphi dF^k_* m^0 \stackrel{c)}{=} \int_B \left(\int_{W_k(x)} \varphi(z) dF^k_* m^0_{F^{-k}(x)}(z) \right) dF^k_* \mu^0(x).$$
(3.1)

On the other hand, we have that

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_k} \varphi dF_*^k m^0 \stackrel{a)}{=} \int_{\mathcal{B}_k} \varphi \ JF^{-k} dm^k \stackrel{b)}{=} \int_B \left(\int_{W_k(x)} \varphi(z) JF^{-k}(z) dm_x^k(z) \right) d\mu^k(x).$$
(3.2)

By comparing (3.1) and (3.2), we have that

$$dF_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0(z) \frac{dF_*^k \mu^0}{d\mu^k}(x) = JF^{-k}(z) dm_x^k(z)$$
(3.3)

for any $z \in W_k(x)$. Therefore, Hypothesis (C) is equivalent (under the UBD property) to the existence of C > 1 such that, for all $x \in \mathcal{B}_k$ and $z \in W_k(x)$

$$C^{-1} \leqslant JF^k(z) \frac{dF^k_* \mu^0}{d\mu^k}(x) \leqslant C.$$
(3.4)

It is easy to check that this condition is satisfied if f is linear, or more generally if JF is constant. The transverse measures μ_k and $F_*^k \mu^0$ given by the disintegration satisfy

$$\frac{dF_*^k\mu^0}{d\mu^k}(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{F_*^k\mu^0(I_\varepsilon^B)}{\mu_k(I_\varepsilon^B)} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{m \circ F^{-k}(A_\varepsilon)}{m(A_\varepsilon)},$$

where $I_{\varepsilon}^{B} \subseteq B$ is a ball with center x and radius ε on $B = W_{F}^{s}(0)$, and $A_{\varepsilon} = \bigcup_{y \in I_{\varepsilon}^{B}} W_{k}(y)$. Since

$$m(A_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{F^{-k}(A_{\varepsilon})} JF^k dm,$$

then Hypothesis (C) tells us that the Jacobian JF^k behaves regularity on $W_k(x)$ independently of $k \in \mathbb{N}$, replacing the role of conservativeness. This concludes our remarks on this hypothesis. Whether this can be obtained from the other hypotheses or be refined, is open to exploration.

The idea of this proof is to construct measures on the local leaves of \mathcal{B}_k with densities that decrease as k grows to ∞ with a rate equal to α the unstable Lyapunov exponent of the linearization A, and in such way that they are invariant under the dynamics up to multiplication to α . This allows us to conclude that the unstable Lyapunov exponents of F and A are the same. More specifically, we want to construct measures η_x such that $F_*\eta_x = \alpha^{-1}\eta_{F(x)}$ and uniformly equivalent to the volume induced on the global leaves.

Consider the measures η_x^k defined inductively as follows:

$$\eta^0_x := m^0_x \text{ and}$$

$$\eta^k_x := \alpha F_* \eta^{k-1}_{F^{-1}(x)} = \alpha^k F^k_* m^0_{F^{-k}(x)}$$

Here α is the unstable eigenvalue of A. Since $|\alpha| > 1$, η_x^k is not a probability. Actually, we prove that it is comparable with λ_x , where λ_x is the induced volume along the global leaf $W_F^u(x)$. For this, we use the quasi-isometry and the existence of a conjugacy uniformly near to Id to show that the length of the unstable segments $W_k(x)$ grows uniformly with α as we apply F.

Lemma 3. There is K > 1 such that, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in \mathcal{B}_0$, we have that

$$K^{-1} \leqslant \frac{\lambda_{F^k(x)}(W_k(F^k(x)))}{\alpha^k} \leqslant K.$$

Proof. The quasi-isometry implies that, to estimate $\lambda_{F^k(x)}(W_k(F^k(x)))$, it suffices to estimate $||a_k - b_k||$, with a_k, b_k being the extreme points of $W_k(F^k(x))$. But we have that $a_k = F^k(a_0)$ and $b_k = F^k(b_0)$, with a_0 and b_0 the extreme points of $W_0(x)$. Then

$$\|F^{k}(a_{0}) - F^{k}(b_{0})\| \leq \|F^{k}(a_{0}) - H \circ F^{k}(a_{0})\| + \|H \circ F^{k}(a_{0}) - H \circ F^{k}(b_{0})\| + \|H \circ F^{k}(b_{0}) - F^{k}(b_{0})\| \leq 2\delta + \|A^{k} \circ H(a_{0}) - A^{k} \circ H(b_{0})\|,$$

where $H(a_0), H(b_0)$ are on the same unstable line for A, and $\delta = d(Id, H) > 0$.

Since

$$\|A^{k} \circ H(a_{0}) - A^{k} \circ H(b_{0})\| = \alpha^{k} \|H(a_{0}) - H(b_{0})\|$$

$$\leq \alpha^{k} (\|a_{0} - b_{0}\| + 2\delta) \leq \alpha^{k} (\lambda_{x}(W_{0}(x)) + 2\delta),$$

the upper bound follows because $\lambda_x(W_0(x)) = \gamma_0$, and the lower bound is analogous. \Box

The multiplicative ergodic theorem for endomorphisms (see [51], for instance), gives us that the unstable Lyapunov exponent of f on a given point does not depend on the choice of orbit that defines the unstable direction, and then we can obtain it at Lebesgue almost every point in \mathcal{B}_0 , since $p(\mathcal{B}_0) = \mathbb{T}^2$, p is a local isometry and the projection of unstable leaves of F are unstable leaves of f.

The next estimations are for points $x \in \mathcal{B}_0$ such that m_x^k is well defined for all $k \ge 0$. We then construct the measures η_x as the limit of measures η_x^k for a given $x \in \mathcal{B}_0$. For that, we need η_x^k to be well defined for every large enough k, which is only guaranteed for a full volume set on the foliated strip \mathcal{B}_0 . Indeed, for all $k \ge 0$, there is a full volume set $A_k \subseteq \mathcal{B}_k$ such that m_x^k is well defined for each $x \in A_k$. Considering $A := \bigcap_{k\ge 0} A_k$ and $D := \bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}} F^n(A)$, we have that D is F-invariant, has full measure in \mathcal{B}_0 and m_x^k is well defined for each $x \in D$ and $k \ge 0$. Now we construct η_x for $x \in D$, and later, using the density of D, we construct using the holonomies other measures to compute the Lyapunov exponents for all point in \mathcal{B}_0 .

Lemma 4. For m-almost every $x \in \mathcal{B}_0$ there is a measure η_x on $W_F^u(x)$ such that $F_*\eta_x = \alpha^{-1}\eta_{F(x)}$ and $\eta_x = \rho_x \lambda_x$ with ρ_x uniformly bounded.

Proof. By the definition of η_x^k , $F_*\eta_x^k = \alpha^{-1}\eta_{F(x)}^{k+1}$. Thus, it suffices to show that the sequence $\{\eta_x^k\}_{k\geq 0}$ has an accumulation point η_x such that $\eta_{F(x)}^{k+1}$ converges under the same subsequence to $\eta_{F(x)}$. First, to guarantee the existence of accumulation points to the sequence $\{\eta_x^k\}_{k\geq 0}$, we show that η_x^k is uniformly equivalent to the induced volume on the leaf, which will also imply the uniform bound for ρ_x .

Essentially, we have uniform equivalence between the following measures

- 1. $m_x^k \sim \hat{\lambda}_x^k$ by the UBD property;
- 2. $m_x^k \sim F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0$ by the Hypothesis (C);
- 3. $F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0 \sim \hat{\lambda}_x^k$ by items 1 and 2;

4.
$$\eta_x^k = \alpha^k F_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0 \sim \alpha^k \hat{\lambda}_x^k$$
.

By Lemma 3, $\alpha^k \hat{\lambda}_x^k$ is uniformly equivalent to λ_x , the induced volume on $W_F^u(x)$. Let us now formalize these ideas.

Consider $\rho_k(x,.): W_k(x) \to \mathbb{R}$ to be the density relating the probability m_x^k and the normalized volume $\hat{\lambda}_x^k := \frac{\lambda_x}{\lambda_x(W_k(x))}$ on the leaf segment $W_k(x)$, i. e., $dm_x^k(.) = \rho_k(x,.)d\hat{\lambda}_x^k(.)$. For all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, since the unstable foliation of F has the UBD property, $\rho_k \in [C^{-1}, C]$, then

$$\frac{C^{-1}}{\lambda_x(W_k(x))}d\lambda_x \leqslant dm_x^k \leqslant \frac{C}{\lambda_x(W_k(x))}d\lambda_x.$$
(3.5)

So, the density $\frac{dm_x^k}{d\hat{\lambda}_x^k}$ is bounded with C^{-1} and C. By the Hypothesis (C), the dm^k

density $\frac{dm_x^k}{dF_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0}$ is also bounded with C^{-1} and C, thus

$$C^{-2} \leqslant \frac{dF_*^k m_{F^{-k}(x)}^0}{d\hat{\lambda}_x^k} \leqslant C^2.$$

By multiplying by α^k , we have that

$$C^{-2}\alpha^k d\hat{\lambda}_x^k \leqslant d\eta_x^k \leqslant C^2 \alpha^k d\hat{\lambda}_x^k.$$

By Lemma 3,

$$K^{-1}d\lambda_x \leqslant \alpha^k d\hat{\lambda}_x^k = \alpha^k \frac{d\lambda_x}{\lambda(W_K(x))} \leqslant K d\lambda_x.$$

This implies that

$$C^{-2}K^{-1}d\lambda_x \leqslant d\eta_x^k \leqslant C^2 K d\lambda_x$$

then the sequence $\{\eta_x^k\}_{k\geq 0}$ have an accumulation point. Let k_i index a subsequence such that $\eta_x := \lim_i \eta_x^{k_i}$. The sequence $\{\eta_{F(x)}^{k_i+1}\}_i$ has an accumulation point for a subsequence with indices that also make $\{\eta_x^k\}_{k>j}$ converge. By a diagonal argument, we get η_x as desired. \Box

To compute the Lyapunov exponents, we would like to have the measures η_x to be defined at every point in \mathcal{B}_0 . But we only have them on D, a full volume set. To overcome this, for any $z \in \mathcal{B}_0$, we define the measures \mathfrak{m}_z and \mathfrak{M}_z using the stable holonomy h^s , which carries points from a local unstable leaf of F to other by traveling on stable leaves. Consider $(z_n)_n$ to be a sequence of points in \mathcal{B}_0 such that η_{z_n} exists and $z_n \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} z$. Consider \mathcal{I}_z to be the set of connected intervals on $W_F^u(z)$. Define for all $I \in \mathcal{I}_z$

$$\mathfrak{m}_{z}(I) := \liminf_{n} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \eta_{z_{i}}(h^{s}(I)),$$
$$\mathfrak{M}_{z}(I) := \limsup_{n} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \eta_{z_{i}}(h^{s}(I)).$$

In the following, we see that these measures are uniformly equivalent to λ_x , the volume induced on the global leaves, and that they are well behaved with respect to F, as the measures η_x are. There is a constant γ and $(z_n)_n$ such that

$$\gamma^{-1}\lambda_z(I) \leqslant \mathfrak{m}_z(I) \leqslant \mathfrak{M}_z(I) \leqslant \gamma \lambda_z(I), \tag{3.6}$$

for all $I \in \mathcal{I}_z$ small enough, with γ independent of the choice of z. Indeed, by Lemma 4,

$$\mathfrak{m}_{z}(I) = \liminf_{n} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \rho_{z_{i}} \lambda_{z_{i}}(h^{s}(I)) \ge C^{-2} K^{-1} \liminf_{n} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \lambda_{z_{i}}(h^{s}(I)).$$

The holonomies are C^1 by Proposition 4, and for I small enough $\lambda_{z_i}(h^s(I))$ is uniformly close to $\lambda_z(I)$. Thus $\mathfrak{m}_z(I) \ge \gamma^{-1}\lambda_z(I)$. $\mathfrak{M}_z(I) \le \gamma\lambda_z(I)$ follows analogously.

For each $I \in \mathcal{I}_{F^k(z)}$ small enough

$$F_*^k \mathfrak{m}_z(I) = \alpha^{-k} \mathfrak{m}_{F^k(z)}(I),$$

$$F_*^k \mathfrak{M}_z(I) = \alpha^{-k} \mathfrak{M}_{F^k(z)}(I).$$
(3.7)

Indeed, by Lemma 4 and the fact that the holonomies are F-invariant:

$$F_*^k \mathfrak{m}_z(I) = \mathfrak{m}_z(F^{-k}(I)) = \liminf_n \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \eta_{z_i}(h^s(F^{-k}(I))) = \liminf_n \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \eta_{z_i}(F^{-k}(h^s(I)))$$
$$= \liminf_n \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \alpha^{-k} \eta_{F^k(z_i)}(h^s(I)) = \alpha^{-k} \mathfrak{m}_{F^k(z)}(I).$$

And for \mathfrak{M} it is analogous.

The inequality (3.6) and the equations (3.7) imply that the unstable Lyapunov exponent of F at every point is $\log(\alpha)$. Indeed, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$F^{n}_{*}(\gamma^{-1}\lambda_{z})(I) \stackrel{(3.6)}{\leqslant} F^{n}_{*}(\mathfrak{m}_{z})(I) \stackrel{(3.7)}{=} \alpha^{-n}\mathfrak{m}_{F^{n}(z)}(I) \text{ and}$$
$$F^{n}_{*}(\gamma\lambda_{z})(I) \stackrel{(3.6)}{\gtrless} F^{n}_{*}(\mathfrak{M}_{z})(I) \stackrel{(3.7)}{=} \alpha^{-n}\mathfrak{M}_{F^{n}(z)}(I),$$

thus

$$\gamma^{-1}F_*^n(\lambda_z)(I) \leqslant \alpha^{-n}\mathfrak{m}_{F^n(z)}(I) \leqslant \alpha^{-n}\mathfrak{M}_{F^n(z)}(I) \leqslant \gamma F_*^n(\lambda_z)(I).$$
(3.8)

By dividing by $F_*^n(\lambda_z)(I)$ and decrease the interval I, we get the derivative of F^{-n} at the unstable direction. More precisely, if $x \in I$, consider $I_{\varepsilon} := \{y \in W_F^u(F^n(z)) : d^u(x,y) < \varepsilon\}$ the open ball around x on the unstable leaf of $F^n(z)$. Then, since by (3.6) $\mathfrak{m}_{F^n(z)}$ is uniformly bounded with respect to the volume measure on the leaf, then $\mathfrak{m}_{F^n(z)} = \tau_{F^n(z)}\lambda_{F^n(z)}$ with $\tau_{F^n(z)} \in [\beta^{-1},\beta]$, and

$$\alpha^{-n} \frac{\int_{I_{\varepsilon}} \beta^{-1} d\lambda_{F^{n}(z)}(\xi)}{\lambda_{z}(F^{-n}(I_{\varepsilon}))} \leq \alpha^{-n} \frac{\mathfrak{m}_{F^{n}(z)}(I_{\varepsilon})}{F_{*}^{n}(\lambda_{z})(I_{\varepsilon})}$$
$$= \alpha^{-n} \frac{\int_{I_{\varepsilon}} \tau_{F^{n}(z)}(\xi) d\lambda_{F^{n}(z)}(\xi)}{\lambda_{z}(F^{-n}(I_{\varepsilon}))} \leq \alpha^{-n} \frac{\int_{I_{\varepsilon}} \beta d\lambda_{F^{n}(z)}(\xi)}{\lambda_{z}(F^{-n}(I_{\varepsilon}))}$$

Taking the limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$, we have that

$$\alpha^{-n}\beta^{-1} \left\| DF^{-n} \right\|_{E_F^u}(x) \right\|^{-1} \leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\alpha^{-n} \mathfrak{m}_{F^n(z)}(I_\varepsilon)}{\lambda_z(F^{-n}(I_\varepsilon))} \leq \alpha^{-n}\beta \left\| DF^{-n} \right\|_{E_F^u}(x) \right\|^{-1}.$$

Now, by applying $\frac{1}{n} \log$ and taking the limit as $n \to \infty$, we have $-\log(\alpha) - \lambda_{F^{-1}}^{u}(x) \leq 0 \leq -\log(\alpha) - \lambda_{F^{-1}}^{u}(x),$

where in the central expression we use the inequality (3.8) to bound $\alpha^{-n} \frac{\mathfrak{m}_{F^n(z)}(I_{\varepsilon})}{\lambda_z(F^{-n}(I_{\varepsilon}))}$.

Hence, $\lambda_F^u(x) \equiv \lambda_A^u$ for all $x \in \mathcal{B}_0$. Since $p : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ is a local isometry, $\lambda_f^u(x) \equiv \lambda_A^u$ for all $x \in \mathbb{T}^2$. We conclude analogously that $\lambda_f^s(x) \equiv \lambda_A^s$ for all $x \in \mathbb{T}^2$.

3.2 Proof of Theorem E

We adapt the proof in [24], that uses Journé's Regularity Theorem (11), for the non-invertible case. Even with f and g not invertible, we can use local transverse foliations on the universal cover to apply Theorem 11. So we prove that the lift H of h restricted to some local unstable foliation is C^k . For the stable foliations, the proof is analogous. Then, H is C^k on a small foliated box on the covering space \mathbb{R}^2 .

Theorem 11 ([33]). Let M_j be a manifold, W_j^s , W_j^u continuous transverse foliations with uniformly smooth leaves (j = 1, 2) and $h : M_1 \to M_2$ a homeomorphism such that $h(W_1^{\sigma}) = W_2^{\sigma}$ ($\sigma = s, u$). If h restricted to the leaves of the foliations W_1^s and W_1^u is uniformly $C^{r+\alpha}$, with $r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, then h is $C^{r+\alpha}$.

Consider $F, G : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ lifts for f and g, and $p : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2$ the canonical projection. We have that F and G are Anosov diffeomorphisms and have stable and unstable foliations $W^s_{F/G}$ and $W^u_{F/G}$, which are quasi-isometric. For any $\xi \in \mathbb{T}^2$, we consider a foliated box \mathcal{B} with respect to f containing ξ by fixing $\overline{\xi} \in p^{-1}(\xi)$ and projecting a small foliated box $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$ with respect to the foliation W^u_F containing $\overline{\xi}$, in such way that $p|_{\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}}$ is a bijection over its image \mathcal{B} . By doing so, we have that $p|_{\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}}$ is an isometry, which allows us to work either on \mathcal{B} or $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$, since the regularity of h on \mathcal{B} is the same as the regularity of H on $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$. On \mathcal{B} , the projected unstable foliation is transverse to W^s_f . We consider $H(\mathcal{B})$ the foliated box with respect to g obtained by applying H to \mathcal{B} .

By Proposition 2, the stable leaves on \mathcal{B} are invariant under deck transformations, thus they do not depend on the choice of $\overline{\xi}$, and we denote them by $W^s_{\mathcal{B}}(x)$. However, the unstable leaves do depend on the choice of $\overline{\xi}$. More specifically, given $x \in \mathcal{B}$, the unstable leaf $W^u_{\mathcal{B}}(x)$ is a local unstable leaf with respect to the orbit $\tilde{x} = \{p(F^k(\overline{x}))\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}},$ where $\overline{x} = p|_{\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\tau}}}^{-1}(x)$.

Along this proof, we use \tilde{x} to refer to the orbit of $x \in \mathcal{B}$ given by the projection of the orbit of $\overline{x} = p|_{\mathcal{B}_{\overline{c}}}^{-1}(x)$.

Lemma 5. h is uniformly Lipschitz along $W^u_{\mathcal{B}}$.

Proof. For $x \in \mathcal{B}$ and $y \in W^u_{\mathcal{B}}(x)$, consider

$$\rho_f(x,y) := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{D_F^u(F^{-n}(\overline{x}))}{D_F^u(F^{-n}(\overline{y}))},\tag{3.9}$$

where $D_F^u(z) = |DF|_{E_F^u}(z)|$ and \overline{x} and \overline{y} are the lifts of x and y in $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$. We will use ρ_f to construct on \mathcal{B} metrics on each leaf that behave "linearly" with respect to D_f^u , that is, that present the exact expansion of the derivative with respect to the unstable direction.

Since f is not necessarily special, then each point can have more than one unstable direction for f, and each lift of a point on \mathbb{R}^2 can have a different unstable direction for F, so the definition of ρ_f depends on the choice of \mathcal{B} . More specifically, $D_F^u(.)$ is well defined for points in \mathcal{B} , for we fix a lift of this point in \mathbb{R}^2 as the one in $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$, and $\rho_f(x,.): W_{\mathcal{B}}^u(\tilde{x}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is well defined and Hölder continuous, since D_F^u is uniformly bounded and F^{-n} contracts uniformly. Moreover, given $x \in \mathcal{B}$, $D_F^u(.)$ is well defined for points on $W_f^u(\tilde{x})$, the projection of the global unstable leaf of \overline{x} with respect to F. Indeed, p is a bijection between $W_F^u(x)$ and $W_f^u(\tilde{x})$, which makes the choice of direction in \mathbb{R}^2 to compute $D_F^u(\overline{y})$ unambiguous. Furthermore, since we have the orbits fixed as the ones projected from $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$, $D_F^u(.)$ is well defined for points belonging to iterates of these fixed global unstable leaves, that is, on $p(F^i(W_F^u(\overline{x})))$ for every $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, which are precisely $W_f^u(\tilde{f}^i(\tilde{x}))$ for each $i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Hence, if $x \in \mathcal{B}$ and $y \in W^u_f(\tilde{x})$, we can compute $\rho_f(f^i(x), f^i(y))$, and

$$\rho_f(f(x), f(y)) = \frac{D_F^u(\overline{x})}{D_F^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y).$$
(3.10)

Moreover, $\rho_f(.,.)$ is the unique continuous function satisfying both (3.10) and $\rho_f(x,x) = 1$. Besides, note that, for all K > 0, there is C > 0 such that $d^u(x,y) < K$ implies $C^{-1} < \rho_f(x,y) < C$. We define $\rho_g(.,.)$ likewise by using the foliated box $H(\mathcal{B})$.

Fixed a $p \in \mathcal{B}$, consider $h_p : W_f^u(\tilde{p}) \to W_g^u(h(\tilde{p}))$. We aim to prove that h_p is Lipschitz with a constant independent of \mathcal{B} and p, i. e., that there exists K > 0 such that $d_g^u(h_p(x), h_p(y)) \leq K d_f^u(x, y)$, with d^u the distance along the leaves. We actually do that for a equivalent metric along the leaves, defined using ρ_f as follows. Let λ_p be the induced volume on $W_f^u(\tilde{p})$. For $x, y \in W_f^u(\tilde{p})$,

$$\tilde{d}_f(x,y) := \int_x^y \rho_f(x,z) d\lambda_p(z) \tag{3.11}$$

is a metric in the leaf, and for all K > 0 there exists C > 0 such that $d^u(x, y) < K$ implies $C^{-1}\tilde{d}_f(x, y) < d^u_f(x, y) < C\tilde{d}_f(x, y)$, since $\rho_f(x, \cdot)$ is uniformly bounded along the leaf. Moreover, $\tilde{d}_f(f(x), f(y)) = D^u_F(\overline{x})\tilde{d}_f(x, y)$, and, inductively, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\tilde{d}_f(f^n(x), f^n(y)) = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} D^u_F(F^i(\overline{x})) \ \tilde{d}_f(x, y).$$
(3.12)

Additionally, \tilde{d}_f is uniformly continuous: for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that for all x, y, z, q with $y \in W_f^u(\tilde{x}), q \in W_f^u(\tilde{z}), z \in B(x, \delta)$, and $q \in B(y, \delta)$ we have that $|\tilde{d}_f(x, y) - \tilde{d}_f(z, q)| < \varepsilon$.

Thus, to prove that h_p is Lipschitz, it suffices to prove that, for an uniform K, $\tilde{d}_g(h_p(x), h_p(y)) < K\tilde{d}_f(x, y)$, where \tilde{d}_g is defined similarly to \tilde{d}_f .

Since the conjugacy h is homotopic to Id and H is a lift for h, H(x+m) = H(x)+m for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, then there is C > 0 such that $||H(x)-H(y)|| \leq C||x-y||$ for $||x-y|| \ge 1$, where ||.|| is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^2 .

Using the fact that p is an isometry between unstable leaves and by the quasiisometry of the unstable foliations W_F^u and W_G^u , the same inequality holds for the induced metric on unstable leaves, that is, there is C > 0 such that

$$d_q^u(h(x), h(y)) \leqslant C d_f^u(x, y) \text{ for } d_f^u(x, y) \ge 1.$$
(3.13)

So we already have the Lipschitz inequality for points far enough apart. For x and y close, we use the Livshitz Theorem, that holds for Anosov endomorphisms, as observed by F. Micena in [42].

Theorem 12 (Livshitz Theorem). Let M be a Riemannian manifold and $f : M \to M$ be a transitive Anosov endomorphism. If $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 : M \to \mathbb{R}$ are Hölder continuous and

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_1(f^i(x)) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_2(f^i(x)) \text{ for all } x \text{ such that } f^n(x) = x,$$

then there is a function $P: M \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\frac{\varphi_1}{\varphi_2} = \frac{P \circ f}{P}$. P is Hölder continuous and it is unique up to a multiplicative constant.

We apply the above theorem for $\varphi_1(z) = D_F^u(\overline{z})$ and $\varphi_2(z) = D_G^u(H(\overline{z}))$. Remember that $\varphi_1(z)$ is only well defined for $z \in \mathcal{B}$, and for $z \in W_f^u(\tilde{f}^i(\tilde{x}))$ for each $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, where $x \in \mathcal{B}$. But, by the transitivity of f, there is a $x \in \mathcal{B}$ with dense orbit. Thus we can extend φ_1 , for it is well defined for every point in the orbit of x. The same holds for φ_2 , and both maps satisfy the hypothesis on periodic points due to the hypothesis on Lyapunov exponents. Therefore, it follows from the Livshitz Theorem that

$$\frac{\varphi_1(x)}{\varphi_2(x)} = \frac{D_F^u(\overline{x})}{D_G^u(H(\overline{x}))} = \frac{P(f(x))}{P(x)},$$

and, inductively,

$$\frac{P(f^n(x))}{P(x)} = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{D_F^u(F^i(\overline{x}))}{D_G^u(H(F^i(\overline{x})))} \text{ for all } x \in \mathbb{T}^2 \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.14)

For $x, y \in W_f^u(\tilde{p})$, consider $N \in \mathbb{N}$ to be the smallest n such that $d_f^u(f^n(x), f^n(y)) \ge 1$. Then $d_g^u(h(f^n(x)), h(f^n(y))) \le C d_f^u(f^n(x), f^n(y))$.

The property (3.12) of the distance \tilde{d}_f implies that

$$\tilde{d}_f(x,y) = \frac{d_f(f^N(x), f^N(y))}{\prod_{i=0}^{N-1} D^u_F(F^i(\overline{x}))},$$

and an analogous equality holds for \tilde{d}_g , thus

$$\frac{\tilde{d}_g(h(x), h(y))}{\tilde{d}_f(x, y)} = \prod_{i=0}^{N-1} \frac{D_F^u(F^i(\overline{x}))}{D_G^u(H(F^i(\overline{x})))} \frac{\tilde{d}_g(h(f^N(x)), h(f^N(y)))}{\tilde{d}_f(f^N(x), f^N(y))}.$$

The first term of this product is is bounded, since it is equal to $\frac{P(f^n(x))}{P(x)}$, and the second one is bounded by the Lipschitz constant given by the inequality (3.13), using the equivalent metric \tilde{d}_f .

In fact, the above lemma proves that H is Lipschitz along $W_F^u(\overline{x})$ for all $\overline{x} \in \mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$, that is, h is Lipschitz along $W_f^u(\tilde{x})$ for x in \mathcal{B} . Then, h is differentiable along unstable leaves, *u-differentiable*, for almost every point with respect to the induced volume on the leaves. If h is u-differentiable for x, then it is for $f^k(x)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$ $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, since f is C^k and the unstable leaves are f-invariant, and the same goes for H and $F^k(\overline{x})$.

Lemma 6. If h is u-differentiable at $x \in W_B^u(p)$, then it is u-differentiable at every $y \in W_B^s(x)$.

Proof. This proof is similar to the one of Step 1 on Lemma 5 in [24], which consists in estimate the u-derivative of a point using a nearby u-differentiable point.

For $y \in W^s_{\mathcal{B}}(x)$ and each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we fix a $y_n \in W^u_F(F^n(\overline{y}))$ close to $F^n(\overline{y})$. Remember that \tilde{d}_f and \tilde{d}_g are uniformly continuous, P is Hölder continuous and H is Lipschitz. Thus, for each small $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ independent of n such that $\zeta \in B(F^n(\overline{y}), \delta)$ implies

$$|P(p(\zeta)) - P(f^n(y))| < \varepsilon \tag{3.15}$$

and there exists $q \in W_F^u(\zeta)$ with $\tilde{d}_f(\zeta, q) = \tilde{d}_f(F^n(\overline{y}), y_n)$, q has the same orientation as y_n, q belongs to a small neighborhood of y_n and

$$|\tilde{d}_g(H(F^n(\overline{y})), H(y_n)) - \tilde{d}_g(H(\zeta), H(q))| < \varepsilon.$$
(3.16)



Figure 12 – We estimate the u-derivative of H at the point $F^n(\overline{y})$ using the one of H at the nearby point $F^n(\overline{x})$.

We have that $y \in W^s_{\mathcal{B}}(x)$, then $d(F^k(\overline{y}), F^k(\overline{x})) \xrightarrow{k \to \infty} 0$ and we can fix $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $F^n(\overline{x}) \in B(F^n(\overline{y}), \delta)$. Then there exists $q \in W^u_F(F^n(\overline{x}))$ that satisfies (3.16) (see Figure 12). Consider $z \in W_F^u(\overline{x})$ being such that $F^n(z) = q$. Then, by taking n sufficiently large, we have that $\tilde{d}_f(\overline{x}, z)$ is small enough so that

$$\left|\frac{\tilde{d}_g(H(\overline{x}), H(z))}{\tilde{d}_f(\overline{x}, z)} - D_H^u(\overline{x})\right| < \varepsilon.$$
(3.17)

Thus

$$\begin{split} \tilde{d}_g(H(F^N(\overline{y})), H(y_N)) &\stackrel{(3.16)}{=} \varepsilon_1 + \tilde{d}_g(H(F^n(\overline{x})), H(F^n(z))) \\ &\stackrel{(3.12)}{=} \varepsilon_1 + \prod_{i=0}^{N-1} D_G^u(H(F^i(\overline{x}))) \ \tilde{d}_g(H(\overline{x}), H(z)) \\ &\stackrel{(3.17)}{=} \varepsilon_1 + \prod_{i=0}^{N-1} D_G^u(H(F^i(\overline{x}))) \ (D_H^u(\overline{x}) + \varepsilon_2) \tilde{d}_f(\overline{x}, z) \\ &\stackrel{(3.12)}{=} \varepsilon_1 + \prod_{i=0}^{N-1} D_G^u(H(F^i(\overline{x}))) \ (D_H^u(\overline{x}) + \varepsilon_2) \frac{\tilde{d}_f(F^N(\overline{x}), F^N(z))}{\prod_{i=0}^{N-1} D_F^u(F^i(\overline{x}))} \\ &\stackrel{(3.16)}{=} \varepsilon_1 + \frac{P(x)}{P(f^N(x))} \ (D_H^u(\overline{x}) + \varepsilon_2) \tilde{d}_f(F^n(\overline{y}), y_n) \\ &\stackrel{(3.15)}{=} \varepsilon_1 + \frac{P(x)}{P(f^N(y)) + \varepsilon_3} \ (D_H^u(\overline{x}) + \varepsilon_2) \tilde{d}_f(F^n(\overline{y}), y_n), \end{split}$$

with $|\varepsilon_i| < \varepsilon$, i = 1, 2, 3. As $\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0$, we have

$$\frac{\tilde{d}_g(H(F^N(\overline{y})), H(y_N))}{\tilde{d}_f(F^n(\overline{y}), y_N)} = \frac{P(x)}{P(f^N(y))} D^u_H(\overline{x}),$$

with the right-hand side not depending on y_N , then H is u-differentiable at $F^n(\overline{y})$. Hence, H is u-differentiable at \overline{y} and h is u-differentiable at y.

If $\mathcal{K} := \{x \in \mathcal{B} : h \text{ is u-differentiable at } x\}$ and

$$\mathcal{K}(p) := \{ x \in W^u_{\mathcal{B}}(p) : h \text{ is u-differentiable at } x \},\$$

then the above lemma implies that $\bigcup_{x \in \mathcal{K}(p)} W^s_{\mathcal{B}}(x) \subseteq \mathcal{K}$. But $W^u_{\mathcal{B}}(p)$ is transverse to the leafwise absolutely continuous foliation $W^s_{\mathcal{B}}$. Then, since $\mathcal{K}(p) \subseteq W^u_{\mathcal{B}}(p)$ has full volume, then $m|_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{K}) = 1$. This implies that \mathcal{K} is dense in \mathcal{B} .

During the proof of Lemma 6 we did not use the fact that $y \in W^s_{\mathcal{B}}(x)$, unless to guarantee that there is a u-differentiable point close to the orbit of y. Since the udifferentiable points form a dense set, we can use the same argument as in the lemma and estimate the u-derivative of any point with nearby u-differentiable points. In particular, if $x \in \mathcal{B}$ is a u-differentiable point with respect to h and it is sufficiently close to y, then

$$D_H^u(\overline{y}) = \frac{P(x)}{P(y)} D_H^u(\overline{x})$$

Thus $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{B}$, that is, h is u-differentiable for each point in \mathcal{B} and D_H^u is $C^{1+\alpha}$. In order promote the regularity of h to the one of f, let us see that

$$\rho_g(h(x), h(y)) = \frac{D_H^u(\overline{x})}{D_H^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y), \qquad (3.18)$$

for $x, y \in W^u_{\mathcal{B}}(p)$. Considering

$$\tilde{\rho}_g(h(x), h(y)) := \frac{D_H^u(\overline{x})}{D_H^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y),$$

we have that $\tilde{\rho}_g$ satisfies (3.10) for g, then it is equal to ρ_g by uniqueness. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\rho}_g(g(h(x)), g(h(y))) &= \tilde{\rho}_g(h(f(x)), h(f(y))) = \frac{D_H^u(F(\overline{x}))}{D_H^u(F(\overline{y}))} \rho_f(f(x), f(y)) \\ &= \frac{D_H^u(F(\overline{x}))}{D_H^u(F(\overline{y}))} \frac{D_F^u(\overline{x})}{D_F^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y) = \frac{D_{H \circ F}^u(\overline{x})}{D_{H \circ F}^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y) \\ &= \frac{D_{G \circ H}^u(\overline{x})}{D_{G \circ H}^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y) = \frac{D_G^u(H(\overline{x}))}{D_G^u(H(\overline{y}))} \frac{D_H^u(\overline{x})}{D_H^u(\overline{y})} \rho_f(x, y) \\ &= \frac{D_G^u(H(\overline{x}))}{D_G^u(H(\overline{y}))} \tilde{\rho}_g(h(x), h(y)). \end{split}$$

With the same argument as [23, Lemma 2.4], we have that H is C^k : by [42, Lemma 3.8], ρ_g and ρ_f are C^{k-1} . Thus, the relation (3.18) implies that D_H^u is C^{k-1} , and H is C^k along W_F^u .

The proof for the stable direction is analogous, as we replace F^{-n} by F^n in the definition of ρ_f (3.9). Then we can apply Theorem 11 for H in $\mathcal{B}_{\overline{\xi}}$ and conclude that H is C^k .

Bibliography

- [1] ALVES, J. F. Nonuniformly hyperbolic attractors. Springer, 2020.
- [2] ANDRONOV, A., AND PONTRYAGIN, L. Structurally stable systems. In Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR (1937), vol. 14, pp. 247–250.
- [3] ANOSOV, D. V. Geodesic flows on closed Riemann manifolds with negative curvature. American Mathematical Society, 1969.
- [4] AOKI, N., AND HIRAIDE, K. Topological theory of dynamical systems: recent advances. Elsevier, 1994.
- [5] AVILA, A., VIANA, M., AND WILKINSON, A. Absolute continuity, lyapunov exponents and rigidity i: geodesic flows. *Journal of the European Mathematical Society* 17, 6 (2015), 1435–1462.
- [6] BERGER, P., AND KOCSARD, A. Structural stability of the inverse limit of endomorphisms. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (C) Non Linear Analysis 34, 5 (2017), 1227–1253.
- [7] BERGER, P., AND ROVELLA, A. On the inverse limit stability of endomorphisms. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (C) Non Linear Analysis 30, 3 (2013), 463–475.
- [8] BOCHI, J., KATOK, A., AND HERTZ, F. R. Flexibility of lyapunov exponents. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 42, 2 (2022), 554–591.
- [9] BONATTI, C., DÍAZ, L. J., AND VIANA, M. Dynamics beyond uniform hyperbolicity: A global geometric and probabilistic perspective, vol. 102. Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- [10] BRIN, M. On dynamical coherence. Ergodic theory and dynamical systems 23, 2 (2003), 395–401.
- [11] BRIN, M., AND STUCK, G. Introduction to dynamical systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [12] CANTARINO, M., AND VARÃO, R. Anosov endomorphisms on the 2-torus: Regularity of foliations and rigidity. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2104.01693* (2021).
- [13] CHEN, J., WANG, F., AND ZHANG, H.-K. Markov partition and thermodynamic formalism for hyperbolic systems with singularities. arXiv preprint arXiv:1709.00527 (2017).

- [14] DA SILVA, S. T. Propriedades finas da desintegração de medidas invariantes. PhD thesis, Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Campinas, 2020.
- [15] DE FARIA, E., AND GUARINO, P. Dynamics of circle maps. IMPA, 2021.
- [16] DE LA LLAVE, R. Invariants for smooth conjugacy of hyperbolic dynamical systems.
 ii. Communications in mathematical physics 109, 3 (1987), 369–378.
- [17] DE LA LLAVE, R. Smooth conjugacy and SRB measures for uniformly and nonuniformly hyperbolic systems. *Communications in mathematical physics 150*, 2 (1992), 289–320.
- [18] DE LA LLAVE, R., AND MORIYON, R. Invariants for smooth conjugacy of hyperbolic dynamical systems. iv. Communications in mathematical physics 116, 2 (1988), 185–192.
- [19] DE MELO, W., AND VAN STRIEN, S. One-dimensional dynamics, vol. 25. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1993.
- [20] DEĞIRMENCI, N., AND KOÇAK, Ş. Existence of a dense orbit and topological transitivity: when are they equivalent? Acta Mathematica Hungarica 99, 3 (2003), 185–187.
- [21] FRANKS, J. Anosov diffeomorphisms on tori. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society 145 (1969), 117–124.
- [22] FRANKS, J. Anosov diffeomorphism. Proceedings of the Symposium in Pure Mathematics 14 (1970), 61–93.
- [23] GOGOLEV, A. Bootstrap for local rigidity of Anosov automorphisms on the 3-torus. Communications in Mathematical Physics 352, 2 (2017), 439–455.
- [24] GOGOLEV, A., AND GUYSINSKY, M. C¹-differentiable conjugacy of Anosov diffeomorphisms on three dimensional torus. Discrete & Continuous Dynamical Systems-A 22, 1&2 (2008), 183.
- [25] GOGOLEV, A., KALININ, B., AND SADOVSKAYA, V. Local rigidity of lyapunov spectrum for toral automorphisms. *Israel Journal of Mathematics* 238 (2020), 389–403.
- [26] GOGOLEV, A., KALININ, B., SADOVSKAYA, V., AND DE LA LLAVE, R. Local rigidity for anosov automorphisms. *Mathematical Research Letters* 18, 5 (2011), 843–858.
- [27] HALL, L., AND HAMMERLINDL, A. Partially hyperbolic surface endomorphisms. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems (2019), 1–11.
- [28] HAMMERLINDL, A. Leaf conjugacies on the torus. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 33, 3 (2013), 896–933.
- [29] HE, B., SHI, Y., AND WANG, X. Dynamical coherence of specially absolutely partially hyperbolic endomorphisms on. *Nonlinearity* 32, 5 (2019), 1695.
- [30] HECTOR, G., AND HIRSCH, U. Introduction to the Geometry of Foliations: Part A. Springer, 1986.
- [31] HERMAN, M. R. Sur la conjugaison différentiable des difféomorphismes du cercle à des rotations. Publications Mathématiques de l'IHÉS 49 (1979), 5–233.
- [32] HIRSCH, M. W. Differential topology, vol. 33. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [33] JOURNÉ, J.-L. A regularity lemma for functions of several variables. Revista Matematica Iberoamericana 4, 2 (1988), 187–193.
- [34] KATOK, A., AND HASSELBLATT, B. Introduction to the modern theory of dynamical systems, vol. 54 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its applications. Cambridge university press, 1997.
- [35] LORENZ, E. N. Deterministic nonperiodic flow. Journal of atmospheric sciences 20, 2 (1963), 130–141.
- [36] MAÑÉ, R. Contributions to the stability conjecture. Topology 17, 4 (1978), 383–396.
- [37] MAÑÉ, R. A proof of the c 1 stability conjecture. Publications Mathématiques de l'Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques 66, 1 (1987), 161–210.
- [38] MAÑÉ, R., AND PUGH, C. Stability of endomorphisms. In Dynamical Systems—Warwick 1974. Springer, 1975, pp. 175–184.
- [39] MANNING, A. There are no new anosov diffeomorphisms on tori. *American Journal* of Mathematics 96, 3 (1974), 422–429.
- [40] MARCO, J. M., AND MORIYON, R. Invariants for smooth conjugacy of hyperbolic dynamical systems. i. *Communications in mathematical physics 109*, 4 (1987), 681–689.
- [41] MARCO, J. M., AND MORIYÓN, R. Invariants for smooth conjugacy of hyperbolic dynamical systems, iii. Communications in mathematical physics 112, 2 (1987), 317–333.
- [42] MICENA, F. Rigidity of special Anosov endomorphisms of torus, 2020.
- [43] MICENA, F., AND TAHZIBI, A. Regularity of foliations and Lyapunov exponents of partially hyperbolic dynamics on 3-torus. *Nonlinearity* 26, 4 (2013), 1071.

- [44] MICENA, F., AND TAHZIBI, A. On the unstable directions and Lyapunov exponents of Anosov endomorphisms. *Fundamenta Mathematicae* 235 (2016), 37–48.
- [45] MOOSAVI, S. M., AND TAJBAKHSH, K. Classification of special anosov endomorphisms of nil-manifolds. Acta Mathematica Sinica, English Series 35, 12 (2019), 1871–1890.
- [46] OLIVEIRA, K., AND VIANA, M. Fundamentos da teoria ergódica. IMPA, Brazil, 2014.
- [47] PALIS, J., AND SMALE, S. Structural stability theorems. Proceedings of the Symposium in Pure Mathematics 14 (1970), 61–93.
- [48] PONCE, G., TAHZIBI, A., AND VARÃO, R. Minimal yet measurable foliations. J. Mod. Dyn. 8, 1 (2014), 93–107.
- [49] PRZYTYCKI, F. Anosov endomorphisms. Studia mathematica 3, 58 (1976), 249–285.
- [50] PUGH, C., VIANA, M., AND WILKINSON, A. Absolute continuity of foliations. Preprint in M. Viana's personal webpage.
- [51] QIAN, M., XIE, J.-S., AND ZHU, S. Smooth ergodic theory for endomorphisms. Springer, 2009.
- [52] ROBINSON, C. Dynamical systems: stability, symbolic dynamics, and chaos. CRC press, 1998.
- [53] ROYDEN, H. Real analysis, 3rd ed ed. Macmillan; Collier Macmillan, 1988.
- [54] SHUB, M. Endomorphisms of compact differentiable manifolds. American Journal of Mathematics 91, 1 (1969), 175–199.
- [55] SHUB, M. Global Stability of Dynamical Systems, 1 ed. Springer, 1986.
- [56] SHUB, M., AND SULLIVAN, D. Expanding endomorphisms of the circle revisited. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 5, 2 (1985), 285–289.
- [57] SMALE, S. Structurally stable systems are not dense. Amer. J. Math. 88 (1966), 491–496.
- [58] SUMI, N. Linearization of expansive maps of tori. In Proc. of International Conference on Dynamical Systems and Chaos (1994), vol. 1, pp. 243–248.
- [59] VARÃO, R. Center foliation: absolute continuity, disintegration and rigidity. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 36, 1 (2016), 256–275.

- [60] VARÃO, R. Rigidity for partially hyperbolic diffeomorphisms. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems 38, 8 (2018), 3188–3200.
- [61] VIANA, M., AND OLIVEIRA, K. Foundations of ergodic theory. No. 151. Cambridge University Press, 2016.